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PREFACE.

TruE idea of publishing my recollections of the operations for
the suppression of the great Indian Mutiny and Rebellion
of 1857—in which my regiment played such an important
part, under’the immediate command of the late Colin Camp-
bell, Lord Clyde—was suggested to me under the following
circumstances.

In the issue of the Siwndard of January 22, 1897, a letter
appeared, signed ¢ Inquirer,” expressing an opinion that, even
at this late date, someone must surely be alive who could
settle the vexed question as to who was the first of all to enter
the breach of the Sikandarbagh on November 16, 1857, at
the Relief of Lucknow by Sir Colin Campbell.

A letter of mine, signed with my initials and retired military
title for the purpose of identifying myself to old friends and
comrades, appeared in the Standard of the following 28th
January, of which the first paragraph ran thus: ¢Having
kept a diary during the whole of the Indian Mutiny campaigns
of my regiment, and having been one of the four leading
officers to enter the breach at the Sikandarbagh on November
the 16th, 1857, I think T am in a position to give a full and
satisfactory answer to your correspondent ¢ Inquirer,” whose
letter appeared in the Standard of the 22nd instant.’

Within a few days of the publication of my reply to
‘Inquirer ’—no vital point in my version of the events I
deseribed being called in question by any future correspondent
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of the Standard—1I received several letters suggesting that my
diary should be prepared for publication. It was not till after
the receipt of these suggestions that I read Kaye and Mal-
leson’s most interesting ¢ History of the Indian Mutiny,” and
was astonished to find how my old friend Malleson’s accounts
of the storming of the Sikandarbagh and Shah Najaf on
November 16, 1857, of the storming of the Begam Kothi on
March 11, 1858, and of the miserable business of the repulse
of Gencral Walpole at Ruiya on April 15, 1858, bristled with
inaccuracies. ’

Thercafter I rcad Lord Roberts’ delightful book; that
literary treat, ‘Lord Clyde's Campaign in India,’” in the
October number of DBlackwood’s Mugazine for 1858 ; ¢ The Life
of Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde,” by Licutenant-General Shad-
well, C.B.; ‘Colin Campbhell, Lord Clyde,” by Archibald
Forbes, in the ‘ English Men of Aection’ series; ‘ My Diary in
India,” by Wm. Howard Russell, LL.D., special correspondent
of the Z'imes; and various magazine articles of recent date,
and have found inaccuracies, some serious, some unimportant,
in the records of the doings of my regiment in all of these
publications.

After perusing Malleson’s History, I began to believe that
my own records, written down at the‘ time, and more than
once on the very spots where the events occurred, might really
have some future historical value, and thus I became more
and more interested in the task I then set before me.

With the single exception of the article in the October
number of Bluckwoud’s Mayazine for 1858, and ‘ My Diary in
India,” none of the accounts I have referred to claim to have
been written for many years after the evenis they describe
had taken place.

I claim superior accuracy on the grounds of having rccorded
all the events I witnessed or heard of, at the time, within a
day or two at latest, of their having taken place; and in the
case of the Sikandarbagh and Shah Najaf, having made notes
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on the spot the morning after the capture of the latter, and in
the case of the former, making my notes whilst spending move
than four days and nights there on guard over the Commander-
in-Chief.

I have to thank General Sir John Alexander Ewart, K.C.B.,
Colonel of the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders, and
Lieutenant-General F. W. Traill-Burroughs, C.B., Colonel of
the Royal Warwickshire Regiment, for their most kind assist-
ance in elucidating such minor points in my own personal
recollections of the distinguished parts they both played at
the Relief, and Lieutenant-General Burroughs played at the
Siege of Lucknow, as I have deemed it necessary to trouble
them about. I am also indebted to, and have to thank,
Admiral Sir.Nowell Salmon, V.C., K.C.B., not only for kindly
editing that portion of my M§. which refers to him personally
and the doings of the crew of the Shannon at the Shah Najaf,
but for furnishing me with the excellent portrait of the late
Captain Sir William Peel, R.N., K.C.B., an engraving from
which appears opposite p. 238 of this volume. I have also
to thank another old comrade-in-arms, Captain I. S. Wood,
late 98rd Highlanders, for editing my description of the
storming of the Right Breach at the capture of the Begam
Kothi, Lucknow, and of Lieutenant and Adjutant William
MecBean’s coxploit there, which were, of course, recorded in
my diary at the time on hearsay cvidence only, as 1 myself
accompanied the left storming party, whilst Captain E. S.
Wood was with the right attack.

My thanks are also due to Mr. Archibald Forbes, who has
given me useful assistance by kindly lending me copies of
plans of Lucknow, the originals of which were officially
prepared for the use of the chief Engincer for both the Relief
of the Residency and siege and capture of the city; plans
which I have myself rendered more intelligible, I think, to
the general reader, by omitting the names of all buildings, etc.,
not mentioned in my narrative.
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The Earl of Hopetoun, to whom, as head of the house of
Hope, I submitted the dedication of my book to the memory
of his great uncle, has been good enough to approve of the
wording of that dedication, in which a few eloquent sentences,
quoted from Colonel Malleson and Sir William Russell, so
fully describe the character of his lordship’s noble relative.

W. GorpoN-ALEXANDER, Lieut.-Colonel,

Late 98rd Highlanders.
January, 1898,

C
Since my book with its preface was written, I have learnt—
with the deepest regret—of the death of my old friend Colonel
Malleson.

. W.G. A,
July, 1898.
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DEFENDELERS ORR SPENDLERS?

¢WHEN our men arc at the front, and the army bears the brunt
Of the confliet, as our cucinics in War's embrace they wect,
Mid the weird-inspiring skirl of the pibroch, and the whirl,
And the sound of flying squadrons, and the tramp of charging {cet,
Then we scem to hear the rash of the battle, and the hush
That comes before the battle, like the ¢alim before a storm,
And we bless ¢ the thin red line,” and we toast them o’er our wine,
And we call them our DEFENDERS, and we love their uniforin.

¢ But when ¢ Peace with Honour ™ comes, and the rattle of the drums
Is silent, and the Stock Exchange no longer holds its hreath,
And the pibrochs skirl no more, {or of those they led Before
There are men by hundreds lying in the crucl arms of Death.
Then we ponder over pence, and the question of expensc
Regnins its old importance, now they’ve won our little fight ;
And we hasten to forget that we owe them any debt,
And we think of them as SPENDERS, and their uniform we slight.’

From the ¢ St. James's Gazelte, May 5. 1892,






RECOLLECTIONS
OF A HIGHLAND SUBALTERN.

CHAPTER 1.
RETURN FROM THE CRIMEA-—CORPORAL PUNISHMENT.

Tue 98rd Highlanders landed at Portsmouth, from the Crimea,
on July 15, 1856, and at once proceeded to Aldershot. On
the following day the regiment was inspected by Her Majesty,
who slowly walked down the line, asking many questions.
The Qucen was accompanied by Prince Albert and a numerous
staff. On the 18th the Queen visited the men’s huts, tasting
the rations prepared for their dinners, the Princess Royal
being one of the Royal party on that occasion. The 93rd
reached Dover from Aldershot on July 28, and were placed
under canvas on the western heights above the town, where we
remained until September 80. My tent, which I had lined
with green glazed calico to turn the rain, blown through
during heavy showers in the form of a fine spray, was one of the
very few, if not the only one in camp, which was never blown
down during our sojourn on that exposed spot ; all the other
tents, of both officers and men, being repeatedly levelled with
the earth—towards the end of September, usually in torrents

of rain,
1



2 RECOLLECTIONS OF A HIGHLAND SUBALTERN

On September 80 the 79th Highlanders marched to Canter-
bury, and the headquarters of the 98rd occupied their
quarters at the Castle with four companies in the barracks on
the western heights. We all attributed our removal into
barracks to the effect a strongly-worded letter to the Times had
had upon the War Office ; the writer pointing out the injustice
of keeping officers and men, so recently returned from an
arduous campaign, under canvas, especially as the 98rd had
been amongst the first of the British regiments to go into
camp nearly a month previous to the declaration of war with
Russia, namely, on March 8, 1854, at Malta. When the
regiment landed in England from the Crimea, we were nearly
at the top of the list for early Indian service, where, curiously
enougl;, the regiment had never been, although raised in
March, 1799. Yel orders were received in November, 1856,
reducing the cstablishment to that of a homc battalion ; con-
sequently, when, within three months of the date of that
order, the 93rd were warned for a tour of duty in the East on
January 81, 1657, the reduction had hastily to be made good
again Dby obtaining over 200 volunteers from the 42nd, the
72nd, the T79th, and the Y2nd Highlanders. On March 6
following fresh orders were reccived, changing the destina-
tion of tho 93rd from India to China, to take part in the then
impending war with China. Previous to the reduction in
November, 1856, the regiment had numbered, after the depots
from Malta and Scotland had joined us at Dover, GO officers,
69 sergeants, 83 drummers and pipers, and 1,181 rank and
file; and when we took part in brigade parades with the 42nd
and 79th IHighlanders, then also at Dover, we mancuvred as
two battalions.

The old colours of the 98rd, which had been presented by
the great Duke of Wellington at Canterbury in the year 1884,
and had been carried throughout the campaign in the Crimea,
were replaced on May 22, 1857, by new colours received at the
hands of His Royal Highness the Duke of Cambridge, who
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had then but recently been appointed Commander-in-Chief.
These new colours received from His Royal Highness were
destined, within a very few months, to be borne through
quite as hard fighting as thosc received from His Grace the
Duke of Wellington in 1884, the tattered remnants of which
were most appropriately hung over the handsome regimental
monument erected by the officers of the 98rd in Glasgow
Cathedral to all those serving under them who had been killed
in action, or had died of wounds or discase in the field, during
the war with Russia. It is devoutly to be hoped that the
colours presented to ns at Dover by the Duke of Cambridge
may some day also be hung over another handsome marble
monument erceted by the officers in St. Giles’ Cathedral,
Edinburgh, 16 the memory of all those who fell during the
Indian Mutiny campaigns of the regiment in 1857-58 and
1858-59; for although not out of place in the Duke of
Sutherland’s hall at Dunrobin Castle, there can be no question
that they would find a more appropriate resting-place over the
monument in St. Giles’ Cathedral, Edinburgh, to those who
died in their defence.

Lieutenant-Colonel the Honourable Adrian ITope,* who, with
other officers, had heen placed on half-pay when the regiment
was reduced in November, 1856, was brought back from half-
pay on March 18, 1857, and on May 28 proceeded to
Portsmecuth in command of a detachment consisting of
3 Captaing, 12 Subalterns, 2 Staff Officers, 19 scrgeants,
18 drummers and pipers, and 282 rank and file, whither the
headquarters followed on May 25. One Captain, 2 Subalterns,
7 sergeanis, 1 drummer, and 70 rank and file were left at
Dover Castle to form a depot there, and shorily afterwards
joined the depot-battalion at Chatham.

* The youngest son of Genoral Sir Jolm Hope, fourth Earl of Hopctoun,
who distinguished himself under Moore and Wellington in the Peninsular
War; ho gave promise of being himsclf one of our most distinguished
soldiers.

1—2
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On June 1 Colonel Hope's party embarked at Plymouth on
board H.M.S. Belleisle, an old 84-gun sailing two-decker,
converted into a transport for the China Expedition, and sailed
for China on June 8. The headquarters, under the command
of Lieutenant-Colonel A. 8. Leith Hay,* and consisting of
8 Field-Ofticers, ¢ Captains, 20 Subalterns, 5 Staff-Officers,
40 sergeants, 10 drummers and pipers, and 650 rank and file,
sailed for the same destination at four a.m. on June 17 from
Portsmouth, on board a well-ﬁtted-t.xp, ¢ well-found,” and most
comfortable hired steam transport called the Mauritins,
commanded by a splendid seaman and right good fellow,
‘Captain’ Cruikshank. Through some mismanagement on
the part of the Quartermaster-General’s department, it was
found, on the arrival of the Mauritius at Portsmouth, that
1 Captain, 1 Subaltern, 2 sergeants, 1 piper, and 47 rank and
file had to be left behind, owing to want of space, to follow us
in some other iransport, although there had Leen plenty of
room for them all, and to spare, on Loard the Belleisle, which
had sailed on dJune 3. The result of this muddle was that
their much-needed presence was lost to the army under Sir
Colin Campbell, both at the relief of Lucknow in November,
and at the defeat of the Gwalior contingent at Cawnporc on
December 6 following, as they did not ¢ventually succeed in
rejoining regimental headquarters until December 16, after
the affair of the Sarai Ghat, to be hereafter recorded.

As an illustration of the nonsense since talked in Parlia-
ment, at the time of the abolition of corporal punishment in
the army in 1881, I may here relate what occurred at a
punishment parade at Portsmouth a short time before we
embarked for China. A man in my company had been tried
by regimental court-martial, and very properly sentenced to
receive fifty lashes for assaulting a non-commissioned officer.

* Now Colonel A. S. Leith Hay, C.B., of Leith Hall and Rannes,
Aberdeenshire.
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He was a particularly smart, clean and brave soldier, but was
of an insubordinate disposition, and when he took too much
to drink developed a murderously violent temper. He had
been arrested, by the orders of the sergeant of the guard, when
coming into the barrack gate, for being drunk; but Lefore he
could be overpowered he succeeded in crowning the sergeant
with a large tub of slops, and was very violent. After
receiving his fifty lashes, which were most effectively
administered by the drurgmers, he not uttering a sound, and
whilst putting his shirt on, previous to being marched to the
hospital as usual after a flogging, to be detained there under
the doctor’s care till his back was healed, he turned round to
Colonel Leith Ha.y, who was in command of the parade, and
defiantly shouted to him, so that all the men might hear,
‘Dae ye ca’ that a flogging ? Hoots! I've got mony a warse
licking frae ma mither!? It was bravado, of course, and he
had to be punished for it; but there was not the slightest
trace of that feeling of ©degradation’ which acecording to the
sentimentalists, led by the late Sir George Oshorne Morgan,
overwhelms not only the wman who is flogged but all his-
comrades, as being liable to the same punishment. Iis was
one of the not infrequent cases that came under my own
notice, up to the date of the abolition of corporal punishment
in the army, where the liability to that punishment made men,
of a violent or insubordinate temper put a restraint nupon them- ™
selves even in their cups. Moreover, both the man whose case
Thave cited and two other men in my own company alone, were
eventually all flogged into becoming exemplary characters, all
three men having died more than ten years after the perlod‘
I am referring to in possession of several good-conduet ba.dges
—one of them obtained four, I think—reformed, steady char-
acters, as well as the clean, ‘smart soldiers they had always
been. If corporal punishment had been abolished at that
time, all of these men would, during the earlier ycars of their
service, have been shot for gross insubordination in the field,
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.

where the only substitute for flogging in every army in Europe
is death.

The abolition of corporal punishment was a lamentable
mistake, which will have to be seriously reconsidered at no
distant date. That it was right to reduce the savage punish-
ment of one hundred lashes and over to fifty lashes, I willingly
admit, with discretion allowed to courts-martial to decree
twenty-five only; but that was wise reform, not abolition.
To have reduced the maximum below fifty would also have
been a mistake. I never knew an instance of any man
suffering any subsequent ill effects from receiving fifty lashes,
and even that number was only inflicted for disgraceful
conduct and such glaring instances of insubordination as the
man was guilty of at Portsmouth in the case 1 have quoted,
or in the case of hardened offenders; a man being seldom
sentenced to receive more than twenty-five lashes for a first
offence. To sentence a man to less than twenty-five lashes,
as is done for civil crimes, such as robbery with violence
nowadays, is a‘farce. In the army the punishment should at
least have been retained for times of war, even if restricted to
armies in the ficld ; for the only substitute now left to a com-
mander on active service is the punishment of death, which
would certainly have to be resorted to in any future great
European war in which a British army might have to take
part. This substitute for flogging is carried out at this day,
even in times of peace, in all the armies of the Continent for
military crimes, for which our men got off with tifty lashes.
But until the sentimentalists in the House of Commons and
the country receive from some determined commander in the
field object-lessons in the disadvantages of shooting disorderly
goldiers instead of flogging them—for there is no other
alternative—maudlin people will adhere to their belief in
their ¢ degradation ’ theories. So recently as October, 1897,
& French private soldier was sentenced to death, and in due
course shot, in Tunis, for the technical assault of throwing a



CORPORAL PUNISHMENT 7

button at his superior officer ; and a month or two before that
another private soldier in the French army had been shot at
Toulon for striking a corporal.

As to flogging having deterred good men from entering the
ranks, in the name of common-sense how could it deter any
except those who thought themselves capable of committing
the serious military crimes for which alone they could be
sentenced to be flogged? Surcly such recruits were not
desirable! The present Qolonel of the Argyll and Sutherland
Highlanders (the old 98rd linked to the 91st), General Sir
John Alexander Ewart, K.C.B.,, who has had consider-
able experience of regimental command with distinguished
regiments, and who, both as a company and field officer, was
always most justly popular with the non-commissioned
officers and men of every regiment he served with, records, in
his autobiographical ¢ Story of a Soldier’s Life,” his conviction
of the necessity of retaining the power to inflict corporal
punishment in the army, if merely as a valuable deterrent
from crime. *



[8]

CHAPTER 1I.
LS
PRIVATE INSPECTION OF 98RD BY TIHE QUEEN—SAIL FOR CHINA.

On June 4, 1857, in compliance with special orders from the
Queen, the headquarters of the 93rd Highlanders, under
Lieutenant-Colonel Leith Hay, with the Grenadiers, Nos. 1,
2, 4, 5, 6, and Light Companies of the regiment, mnarched
from the Clarence Barracks at Portsmouth to the Clarence
Victualling Yard, Gosport, for private inspection by Her
Majesty. We received the Queen, on her landing from the
Isle of Wight, jn line, and after a Royal salutc from us, Her
Majesty, accompanied by Prince Alberi, the Princess Royal,
and other members of the Royal Family, walked down the
front rank and back again between the ranks, Her Majesty
thus inspeeting every man on parade, & most unusual, if not
unprecedented, act of kindly condescension on the part of the
Queen. Although the space in the yard was very circum-
seribed, we were commanded to march past IIer Majesty, first
in the slow time of those days, to the tune of ¢ The Garb of Old
Gaul,” and then in quick time to that of ‘Highland Laddie.’
Her Majesty was graciously pleased to express to Colonel
Leith Hay the gratification it had afforded her to thus
review the 98rd before their depariure for China, and
how pleased she had been with the appearance of the
regiment. There being no telegraph wire to India in those
days, not a whisper of the terrible events which had happened
at Mirath on May 10 and at Delhi on May 11 had then
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reached England. We remained in attendance as a guard of
honour, facing, in column of companies, the line of rails
where the Royal train presently moved up; the Queen,
having entered her saloon-carriage, came and stood with
Prince Albert at one of the windows overlooking us, till the
train passed out of the dock-yard gates, the regiment again
giving a Royal salute, and Prince Albert the Good passed out
of sight of most of us for ever. But as soon as discipline
permitted us to talk the event over, both officers and men
expressed their great regrat that the Colonel had not thought
of obtaining leave for us to give the Queen a Dritish cheer as
the train moved off, as being a more spontaneous expression
of our devotion, and the hearty appreciation of all ranks of
this highly ecomplimentary farewell from our much-loved
Queen, than the formal ceremony of a military Royal salute.
Many times afterwards, in the course of our Indian campaigns,
I heard the men allude to this gracious and kindly leave-
taking of us by Iler Majesly, and remark one to another,
when we were settling down for the night, whether in a ditch
or on capfured cider-down quilts, aiter some exciting bit of
history making, ‘I’'m thinking the Queen ’ll be prood o’ this
day’s wark.” As my narrative will in due course show, our
Sovereign was not only proud of us, but let us know it in her
own handwriting.

The Mauritius sailed, as I have previously recorded, on
June 17, our destination being China, and dropped anchor in
the harbour of St. Vincent, one of the Cape Verde lslands,
where wo had a British coaling-station, about nine a.m. on
June 80, to coal. She had Dbut a small coal-carrying
capacity, and in consequence of this our skipper, Mr. Cruik-
shank, had to get along under canvas as much as possible, so
that the Cleopatra, anothor transport, which left Portsmouth
some days after us with the headquarters and four companies
of the 23rd Royal Welsh I usiliers on board, passed us in the
Bay of Biscay and reached the Cape six days before us.
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However, in the end, steaming all the way, she was only one
day ahead of us at Caleutta.

I landed, with others, for a run on shore at ¢ Porto Grande,’
the grandiloquent name given by the Portuguese to the
wretched little village at the coaling-station on this desolate-
looking island. There we found, as British Consul, a
Robinson Crusoe kind of Englishman, called Mitchell, who
had married a Portuguese, and had actually managed to live
in the awful place for twenty years, during thirteen of which
he had never visited England! He most hospitably offered
us the only liquid refreshments he possessed, to wit—brandy
or gin and water, the water being distilled sea-water. In
explanation of the absence of any green thing, even a blade of
grass, as far as we could see, Mr. Mitchell told us that no rain
had fallen during the last four yecars, but that on the top of
the highest Lill on the island there was a verdant table-land,
watered by the dews, where goats fed. We found that the old
flint muskets with which the native troops—snch troops!—in
the Portuguese fort were armed had the Tower mark on them,
and had undoubtedly been amongst those presented by the
British Government to Portugal during the Peninsnlar War.
The Consul dined with us on board our ship on July 3, when
we were able to give him something better than brandy and
distilled water, poor chap, and we completed our coaling and
steamed away from Porto Grande at 5.20 p.m. next day, on
our run to the Cape of Good Hope, not having yet heard a
word from any passing vessecl of the terrible state of things
in India.

‘We crossed the linc on July 18, and then entered into what
proved to be a continuous state of mutiny of the merchant
sailor crew all the way to Calcutta. Our skipper, who was a
strict disciplinarian when dealing with that very unruly
customer, the British merchant seaman, who is, I under-
stand, still more unruly nowadays, had forbidden any
¢ tomfoolery,” as he called it, on crossing the line, telling us
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that it was only an excuse to obtain drink from the passengers.
Yet, in direct disobedience of that order, a number of the
crew with blackened faces, but with no other attempt at
make-up, invaded the saloon in the characters of Neptune
and his attendants—where most of the officers were assembled
after dinner, playing whist, chess, and other games, Mr.
Cruikshank being one of the whist party in which I held a
hand—and cajoled two or three of the younger officers of the
98rd to give them drinks.. The ringleader of these seamen
got drunk, and was put in irons by Cruikshank, when the
men of the watch then came aft and demanded his release.
This being mutiny, Mr. Cruikshank called upon Colonel Leith
Hay to assist him, and I was dirccted as officer of the
military watch that night—for troops at sea always tell off
military watches, both by day and night, and detail a captain
and subaltern of the day and mount a guard—to drive the
crew ‘for’ard’ again, with the aid of the men of the 98rd
watch, which we quietly accomplished. In the course of the
evening, however, three or four prisoners of the 93rd. some of
the most insubordinate men in the regiment, including the
man who had been flogged at Portsmouth just before we
embarked, who were in charge of the 98rd regimental guard
stationed for’ard, consisting of a sergeant, corporal, and
twelve men, began loudly to express their sympathy with the
sailor in irons, so I obtained Colonel Hay’s consent to bring
them with our guard to the quarterdeck for the night, this
measure of precaution being thereafter carried out for the
rest of the voyage from ten p.m. till after sunrise.

One of the 98rd prisoners, a violent-tempered man of bad
character, began, however, about five o’clock next morning,
July 14, to create a disturbance, and to drum with his heels
on the deck where e was lying. The place was immediately
over the Colonel’s cabin, ag he knew, and as he refused to desist
when I ordered him to do so, I had to take measures to put a
stop to the noise, which raised the wrath of two other 93rd
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prisoners who were under restraint for having sided with the
mautinous seamen, and they also broke into bad language and
threatened to be ¢ even with me’ the first time we were under
fire together. As I knew they really did not mean what they
said, and that it was only a little ebullition of temper, which I
could afterwards make them feel very much ashamed of
having given way to, 1 did not report them, merely taking
measures to stop their further talking. Soon after the
regiment took the field, I had an ?pportunity of recalling to
both men their foolish threat of that morning, as I shall here-
after rolate.

The other 93rd man, however, who had commenced the
disturbance, it was necessary to make an example of, and he
was accordingly tried by court-martial the following day, and
sentenced to receive fifty lashoes, which were duly administered
in the presence of the mutinous erew and the men of the 98rd
off duty. The punishment not only kept the culprit himself
very quiet, as well as the other troublesoine characters amongst
our men, for tke rest of the voyage, but cowed the mutinous
crew of the ship until we reached Simon’s Bay, four weeks
afterwards. Will the sentunentalists be good enough to
inform us what other punishment could have had the same
good effects under similar circumstances? Mr. Cruikshank,
the master, took the opportunity, immediately after this
punishment-parade on July 16, to warn his crew that if they
gave any more trouble during the voyage, he would place the
ship under martial law by handing over the command to the
senior military ofticer on board. This is a step which the
master of a merchantman, having troops on hoard, can always
take on the high seas, and then every civilian on board is
liable to trial by court-martial, and to undergo any punish-
ment such court is competent to award to soldiers, including
at that time fifty lashes.

Notwithstanding that two or three of the mutineers amongst
the crew were handed over at the Cape, on our arrival there,
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to the civil power, with the certainty of lLeing sentenced to
the really dreadful punishment of several years’ penal servitude
on the roads there in chains, this mutinous spirit accompanied
us to Calcutta; for shortly after sailing from the Cape, cn
route to Calcutta, after we had reccived the news of the
Indian Mutiny, the majority of the crew refused to work the
ship, at a time, too, when the vital importance of the speedy
arrival at Calcutta of such a powerful reinforcoment as we
constituted was clear to everyone. Afier the moen of the 93rd
heard the news from India, and how our destination was
changed from China to Calcutta, not a man, cven amongst
our most turbulent characters, gave any further trouble.
Any hopes the mutinous crew may have entertained of com-
pelling Cruikshank to put back to the Cape, by refusing
to work ihe ship, were doomed to disappointient, for owing
to our having so many men in the 98rd rceruited from
amongst the fishermen of both the east and west coasts of
Scotland, we were able to supply cighty-cight men qualified
to go aloft in all weathers, with case and®safety. The
capabilities of each volunteer were thoroughly tested before
he was allowed to undertake a sailor's duties, and he received
a sailor’s wages for the rest of the voyage, in addition
to his military pay, and ‘slop suits’ of nautical clothing
provided by the skipper. Desides this important assistance
in working the ship, nearly half our men were on deck day
and night as the military watch, and all of them always
ready and more than willing to haul the ropes about
when required to do so, Lieutenant-Colonels Leith Hay and
Ewart, as well as land-lubbers like mysclf among the
officers, often lending a hand; for it must be remembered
that, owing to the limited coal-carrying capacity of the
Mauritius, we had to sail more than we steamed, throughout
the voyage. We can say, therefore, with perfect truth, that
the 98rd Highlanders worked the good ship 3Mauritivs from
the Cape of Good Hope to Calcutta.
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CHAPTER III.
DESTINATION CHANGED AT THE CAPE FOR CALCUTTA.

Wz dropped anchor in Simon's Bay about seven p.m. on
August 11, just after dark, fifty-five days out from Spithead,
and as it was believed that the I3elleisle might possibly be in
harbour, the regimental call was sounded, which was imme-
diately answered by Lieutcnant-Colonel IIope’s bugles on
board that ship at no great distance from us. Colonel Hope
with most of the officers soon came on board and brought us
the first intelkigence of the Sepoy Mutiny in India, and of the
orders to proceed direet to Calcutta. I find il here recorded
in my diary: ¢ Those in the Belleisle are very badly fed and
envy us our good living on the Mauritins very much, but
neither officors nor men are so crowded as we are; indeed,
they have ample room for more. Colonel Hope, as usual,
had a kind word for everyone when he came on board, and
they were all heartily cheered by officers and men when they
were rowing back o their old two-decker, a voice from our
men for’ard calling for * three cheers more for Ilope.””’

The Delleisle sailed early next morning, August 12. A
large party of us from the Mauritius, with Colonel Leith Hay ;
¢ Paddy ’ Blake, the paymaster, since dead ; Captain Middleton,
who afterwards died of cholera at Peshawur when in command
of the regiment as a major in 1862 ; Ensign Deanes Campbell,
gince dead; my Captain, Burroughs, now Licutenant-General
W. F. Traill-Burroughs, C.B.; Surgeon Wm. Munro, our
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most skilled and popular doctor, since dead, and many others,
rode and drove from Simon’s Bay to Cape Town, putting up
till next morning at Park’s Hotel. IIis Excellency the
Governor told Colonel Leith Hay to let us know that, had it
not been for the receipt of the terrible news from India, which
had placed many families at the Cape in mourning for
murdered relatives, he would have given the officers a dinner
and a ball, as the 93rd had been one of the three regiments—
the 71st and 72nd Highlanders being the other two forming
a Highland Brigade—that had borne the brunt of the fighting,
and decided the day, when the Capc was captured from the
Duteh on January 8, 1806.

Only a very few days before we reached Simon’s Bay, the
steamship Madras, of the . and O. line, which had been
chartered by Lord Elphinstone, the Governor of Bombay, on
receipl of the news of the outbreak at Mirath, to carry
despatches to the Governor of the Cape, had arrived. Lord
Elphinstone had also chartered another . and O. steamer
on his own responsilility, the Pottinger, to carry the news to
the lsland of Mauritius, dwelling in his despatelies to the
Governors of both Colonies upon the gravily of the crisis, and
begging them to send on at once to India overy soldier they
could spare. The Governor of the lsland of Mauritius,
Bir Jumes Iligginson, had sent off as quickly as possible the
88rd Foot and a battery of artillery, but the Governor of the
Cape, Sir George Groy, was in a position to render even more
valuable service, for an unusually large force happencd to “be
quartered in Cape Town in this month of August, 1857.
Fortunately for the Empire, the Governor of this important
post was in every sense of the word a great man; e had no
dread of responsibility, a dread which had been ihe cause of
80 many digasters in India during the course which the
rebellion had even then run. Within three days of the
receipt of Lord Elphinstone’s despatch, Sir George Grey had
sent away a man-of-war and three iransports to Calcutta,
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where he forwarded altogether the 6th Foot, the 1st Battalion
18th Foot, the 2nd Baitalion 60th Rifles, and the 78rd, 80th,
and 81st Foot. The 89th and 95th he sent to Bombay. He
also forwarded to Calcutta every horse he could procure.

In addition, however, to this magnificent service, Sir George
Grey shouldered even greater responsibilities ; for although as
High Commissioner of South Africa he had absolutely no
authority over the Dritish troops who might touch at the
Cape of Good Hope on their way to China, he did not hesitate
at this time of deadly peril to the Empire to give the officer
commanding each detachment of the cxpedition, as they
suceessively arrived, written orders to call at Caleutta instead
of going on to Singapore. These reinforcemonts, in addition
to the main portion of the garrisons of Cape Town and the
Island of Mauritius, undoubtedly saved India; for although
Delhi was captured without their assistance, yet Sir Colin
Campbell could not have relieved Lucknow without his 1,019
98rd Highlanders—our strength on parade the day we com-
menced operations; the Residency wonld have fallen, with
attendant horrors; the large rebel Sepoy army in Oudh would
then have been released to form a junction with the formid-
able Grwalior contingent, which afterwards took such a deal
of beating at our hands ; and thesc combined forces of anarchy
and disorder would have swept away all the remnants of
British authorily in the north-west. This would certainly
have been followed by a general rising in the Panjab and in
Central India, with a mutiny on the part of the Madras and
Bombay native armies, both of which-—as Malleson demon-
strates in his history—were more than shaky at this period.

Colonel Malleson, in the fourth volume of his  History of
the Indian Mutiny,” makes the following statement at page 89
(second edition, 1891): ‘The cfforts initiated by Sir Colin
Campbell to produce resources and to ensure the safety of the
road* were beginning to bear good fruit when most of the

* The Grand Trunk Road from Culeutta to Cawnpore.
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troops diverted by Lord Elgin* from the China Expedition
arrived. These consisted of the 93rd Highlanders, the 28rd
Fusiliers . . > Now, as Lord Elgin was at Singapore, to
which there was no submarine telegraph cable in those days,
and the whole of the 93rd and the headquarters, with four
companies of the 28rd Royal Welsh Fusiliers, were diverted
from the China Expedition, as above related, by Sir George
Grey, on his own and sole responsibility, clearly Lord Elgin
is not entitled, and could have no claim, to the credit of it.
Again, in his fifth volume of the same-cedition Colonel Malleson,
at page 5, states that Sir George Grey ‘did not hesitate to
direct the commanders of the transports conveying the China
Expeditionary Army so far to divert from their course as to
call at Singapore* for orders.” As Singapore was in the direct
course of every man-of-war and transport with troops or stores
on board bound for China, any such ¢ order’ would have been
superfluous. What Sir George Grey actually did do I have
already narrated.

To return to our party at Cape Town. We found that the
only regular troops left of the garrison were two companies of
the 80th Foot, and that they were only waiting for a transpart
to sail for India also. All the nilitary duties of the garrison
were being performed by hastily-assembled and imperfectly-
drilled infantry and mounted volunteers, Sir George Grey
informing us that the Attorney-General of the Colony was
that day taking his turn of ‘sentry-go’ on Government
House.

‘When we returned on board the Jauwritius, on the morning
of the 14th, we found that, owing to the mutinous spirit of
the crew, very few of them would work at the coaling and
watering of the ship, their places being supplied by men of
the 93rd, who, moreover, willingly and cheerily worked all
night for the five nights they were in harbour, so as to com-
plete the coaling with the least possible delay, and we ihus

* The italics are mine.
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managed to get away at eleven o’clock on the morning of
August 16. By the evening of the 17th, when well out at sea,
we had altogether nine of the crew in irons. Another serious
misfortune, however, befell us, for a blade of the screw got
out of order on the 22nd, and threatened to knock a hole
in the ship’s bottom, which obliged us to shut off steam
altogether ; but on the afternoon of the next day it was dis-
covered that the loose blade had dropped off, and steam was
again got up, and thereafter we steamed as much as possible
all the rest of the journey to Calcutta, meeting with some
heavy weather before we reached Port Louis, in the island of
Mauritius, on the morning of August 29. Here Captain Sir
William Wiseman, Bart., commanding H.M.S. Penclope,
arrived on the 80th, with some artillery en route also to Cal-
cutta, and coming on board our ship next morning informed the
mutinous crew that unless those who had struck work returned
immediately to their duty he would put the Mauritius under
martial law. All those not in irons obeyed.

We steamed. out of the harbour of Port Louis on the morning
of September 1. On September 17 a passing vessel homeward
bound signalled to us at the mouth of the river Hooghly,
‘You are anxiously expected,” and the next day we took the
pilot on board to navigate the ship up to Calcutta, having
been ninety-three days since we dropped our pilot at Spithead.
A total eclipse of the sun took place this day, when we found
the best means of watching it was in tubs of water rather
than through smoked glass. Many birds roosted in the
rigging during the darkest phases of the eclipse. The pilot
had informed us that Delhi was not yet captured.

We reached the port of Calcutta, opposite Fort William, on
the afternoon of Sunday, September 20,* the third anniversary
of the Battle of the Alma, and were enthusiastically cheered
by the occupants of the numerous European bungalows on
the banks of the river as we steamed up. As soon as the

% The day that Dolhi fell.
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ship was reported, Fred Alison, of the 72nd Highlanders, one
of Sir Colin’s aides-de-camp, came on board, and told us that
we should probably be at once sent on to Chinsurah, higher
up the river. We learnt also from him of the massacre ai
Cawnpore, and the death from cholera of Major-General Sir
Henry Barnard, commanding before Delhi, who had been
Chief of the Staff in the Crimea under Generals Simpson
and Coddrington ; General Barnard was well known and much
liked by the officers of the 93rd, having been our General of
Division at Dover for some®time before he went out to India.

2—2



[ 20]

CHAPTER 1IV.
LJ
RECEPTION OF THE 93RD AT CALCUTTA—STATE OF AFFAIRS THERE.

O~ the afternoon of the 20th Sir Colin Campbell paid us &
visit, attended Ly some of his staff, and was rapturously
received by all ranks, the cheering, indeed, being so frequently
renewed that it was a considerable time bLefore Sir Colin, who
was deeply moved, was allowed to speak. Sir Colin had
arrived in Calcutta on August 18, nearly six weeks before us,
‘at a moment when affairs were at their worst. The North-
West Provincgg, Delhi, Rohilkhand, and Oudh were lost. The
Punjab was fermenting. Central India was in a state of
veiled rebellion. The very existence of the English in India
was depending upon the early capture of Delhi, and Delhi
still held out. . . . Every day made the loyalty of the Sikhs
more questionable. Every day increased the difficulty of
Sindhia to restrain his troops from a movement against Agra,
or, more to be dreaded still, upon Cawnpore. Every day
relaxed our hold upon the Princes of Rajputana and Bandel-
khand, whilst from the Western Presidency there came unmis-
takable symptoms that order in the southern Maratha country
could be maintained only by a strong and vigorous hand.'*
When Sir Colin landed, Lord Canning and his Government
had made no preparations to meet the requirements of the
troops from China and England, which might daily be looked
for. ‘No means of transport had been prepared ; no horses,
* Malleson's ¢ History of the Indian Mutiny,’ vol. iv., pp. 84, 85.
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either for cavalry or artillery, had been provided; Enfield
rifle ammunition was deficient, and no effort had been made
to supply the deficiency; flour was even running out, and
nothing had been done to procure a fresh supply ; guns, gun-
carriages, and harness of field batteries were either unfit for
service or did not exist; and, although the gun foundry at
Kasipur was at their door, no fresh orders were given to the
superintendent.’*

Sir Colin’s energy stirred up the ‘ lethargy and roused to
some show of efliciency all the East India Company’s depart-
ments’ concerned, and quintupled thcir activity. TFurther,
he put pressure on the Government of Lord Canning to
establish the bullock-train. Again to quote from Malleson :
‘This train was composed of a number of covered waggons,
in each of which a fixed number of European soldiers could
sit at case. To draw these, a proportionate number of
bullocks were posted at stages all along the road. The
starting-point of the bullock-train was the railway terminus at
Raniganj, 120 miles from Caleuita. The soldiets, leaving the
train, wore supposed to enter the bullock-carriages, and to
travel in them all night and in the carly hours of the morning
and evening, resting for food during the hcat of the day.
This scheme was soon brought to perfection, and was made to
work so as to land daily in Allahabad 200 men fresh and fit
for work, conveyed in the space of a fortnight from Calcutta.’
Sir Colin had been the guest of Lord Canning at Government
House since the date of his arrival at Caleutta, and, I suppose,
suggested that tho officers of the 98rd should be asked to
dinner there; auyhow, an invilation was received by the
Colonel on the day of our arrival in the river, and it was
intimated to us that all officers off duty might go to dine
with His Excellency next evening, September 21.

i Principally, I believe, owing to the fact that all those

* ‘Lord Clydc's Campaign in India, August, 1857, to February, 1858.°
Blackwood's Magazine, October, 1858.
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accepting the Governor-General’s invitation had to appear in
levée dress—which, in the case of a company officer like
myself, meant the kilt and a very warm buttoned-up scarlet
cloth tunic, instead of the cooler open mess-jacket, white
waistcoat, and light tartan trews worn at mess—the only
representatives of the regiment who appeared at Government
House were DBrevet-Lieutenant-Colonel J. A. Ewart* and
myself. As the Mauritivs was moored at no great distance,
Colonel Ewart and I walked to Government House. I par-
ticularly noticed, as we passed II.M.S. Shannon, which was close
hauled in to the quay, that her broadside, with ports all open,
completely commanded, and could have swept with the fire of
her guns, the maidin, or parade-ground, in front of Govern-
ment House, as well as the roadway and steps leading up to
the grand entrance. As this flight of steps was very imposing,
I agreed with Colonel Ewart that it probably was reserved as
a State enirance, not intended for humble folks like us, and
as there were no European sentries to be seen, but only two
or three dismvunted troopers of the Governor-General’s native
cavalry body-guard at the top of the steps, with whom we
could not communicate, as we did not speak tho language
then, we proceeded to hunt about till we found an entrance in
the basement which was on a level with the road.

Wondering at the ease with which we had thus entered,
unchallenged, in such dangerous times, the very heart of the
dwelling occupied by the head of the Government—when, too,
it was deemed necessary to have the approaches to the
building under the guns of one of Her Majesty’s ships,
apparently cleared for action—we here came suddenly upon
a sentry of the 58rd Foot, posted over the piled arms of fully
100 men. Colonel Ewart asked for the officer in command,
and a captain of the 53rd came forward, who, in answer to
Colonel Ewart’s inquiries, informed us that a strong picket of

* Now General Sir John Alexander Ewart, K.C.B., Colonel of the
Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders.
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European infantry was quietly marched into these cellars, so
to speak, after dusk every evening, keeping their sentrics out
of sight, and remaining there all night with their rifles (the
Enfield muzzle-loader, then in use) loaded, and sixty rounds
of ball cartridge in their pouches, and marched back to their
quarters at daylight the following morning. He also informed
ue that we should have entered by the main door at the top of
the steps; but to save us going round to it he politely showed us
the way to the great entrance hall, up a stone staircase leading
from this basement, at th® top of which we had our first view
at close quarters of a specimen of the native soldier, one of the
Governor-General’s body-guard. This sentry was dressed in
white breeches and jackboots, a scarlet, tight-fitting FEuropean
coatee with quantities of gold lace on it, and white gauntlets,
the whole surmounted, above his very black face, with one of
the ugliest turbans I ever saw, one of those tightly twisted
things (also with much gold lace on it, of course) exactly like
the old early Victorian-age bell-ropes. There seecmed to be
two of these men at every door leading into thig hall, and one
on every landing of the grand staircase leading up to the first
floor, to which the Captain of the hidden 53rd picket directed
us to ascend. At every door on the top landing there were
more of these black seniries, and we particularly noticed at the
time that they were doing duty with infantry ramrods in their
hands, instead of their own cavalry swords or carbines. DBoth
Colonel Ewart and myself thought them a very truculent-
looking set of men, and most certainly one and all scowled
at us as they stood at attention when we passed, and scemed
puzzled with our costume, including the feather- bonnets we
carried in our hands, the Highland uniform having scldom
or never been worn in Caleutta before. Their very truculency
and evident interest in our appearance made the Colonel and
myself observe every man closely ; but their tout-ensemble was,
*in our eyes, so intensely ludicrous, with six-feet-two, clad as
I have described, their tight-fitting European breeches and
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coatee emphasizing the angles of their spare frames and huge
bony knees and elbows, and making up one of the most
comical carieatures of our own Life Guards one could imagine,
that, pretending to have some joke between ourselves, Colonel
Ewart and 1 laughed on one of the landings, with our backs
to one of those scarecrows, till the tears streamed from our
eyes.

One of the first results of the mutiny of the old Bengal
Sepoy army was, fortunately for the future comfort and
improved appearance of the native soldier, to abolish every
article of JBuropean dress, oxcept' boots and shoes, from their
uniforms, and even to go further, by introducing the use of the
comfortable and beeoming native costumes for the European
officers when on active scrvice. Ilveryone who saw the
becomingly-dressed, fine-looking Imperial Service officers, and
the native officers, and our own Dritish native forces, who at
the time of the Queen’s Commemoration came to England
to take part in the procession, can picture to themselves
how absurd these same men would have looked dressed in
European uniforms. Some ten or twelve years afterwards,
before the 93rd left India, I saw a discussion in the English
newspapers published in the Dengal Presidency as to whether
the Governor-General's hody-guard had over been disarmed at
all. I wrole to one of these newspapers, quoting my own
experiences as I have given them above, and noticed no reply
disputing the accuracy of my statoments.

Colonel Ewart and I were ushered into the reception-room
by native servants, and shortly afterwards tuken under the
wing of the aide-de-camp in waiting, Captain Lord Dunkellin,
of the Coldstream Guards. 1 remcmber being particularly
impressed with the great height and palatial dimensions of
this room, the first interior I had seen In Indian. A few
minutes before dinner was announced two lofty doors facing
each other were simultancously thrown open, and Lord and:
Lady Canning advanced from these opposite entrances into
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the centre of the room, each aitended by members of their
respective households. Colonel Ewart and myself, with one
or two other strangers, were presented to each. Sir Colin
Campbell joining the cirele, and greeting Colonel Ewart and
myself most kindly, Lord and Lady Canning shortly after-
wards led the way to the banqueting-hall. 1 do not think
that, including the Governor-General and Lady Canning,
there were more than twenty-four persons at table, and our
small party seemed lost, I remember, in the cenire of that
great hall. Our host and Yostoss occupied places on a dais on
each side of the table opposite to each othor, and I was struck
with the cffect produced by the native attendants standing two
on each dais on either side, but a little hehind both Lord and
Lady Canning, waving the great silver-mounted chanris with
regular rhythmical motions throughout the dinner. These
chauris, used by native potentates in India to keep the flies off,
are horses’ tails mounted in silver, or even in gold studded
with precious stones, and are not, of course, required in a
room where punkahs are in motion, under which neither flies
nor mosquitos will scttle; hut they secem to he retained as
ceremonial emblems of authority by Dritish Governors, and
are ccrtainly very striking to a Western cye. An invisible
string band discoursed most cxcellent and very soft musice
throughout the meal. There was a native servant to wait on
each guest; but most of thew, Lord Dunkellin informed me,
would have cut each and all of our throats at that time with
the greatest pleasure. It was, therefore, particalarly eom-
forting to me, as I told Lord Dunkellin on this announcement,
to retloct on what 1 had seen in the bascment below aboat a
quarter of an hour before, and also somewhat reconciled me to
the inconvenience of having to sit out the dinner with my
claymore on one side of me, and my dirk at the other.
Captain Lord Dunkellin had been taken prisoner by the
Russians when at trench duty before Sebastopol in October,
1854. He was a charming fellow and amusing companion,
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taking no end of trouble during dinner, not only to look after
my inner man, but to give me all sorts of interesting informa-
tion about the situation in India at the time; the very tough
work that was before us; his reasons for confidently believing
that the Mutiny had then reached its height; and his belief
that the arrival of the 93rd Highlanders, as the vanguard of
an avenging Qucen’s army (in contradistinction to the East
India Company’s forces), was the beginning of the end of the
whole rebellion. Lord Dunkellin had his own opinions on
the wisdom of retaining as a bod) -guard the men I have
described—a body-guard whom it had been thought necessary
to deprive of their arms! If history had not since recorded
the absolutcly fatuous policy pursued by the Supreme Govern-
ment of India in many different ways, from the date of the
outbreak at Mirath until after the time of which I am writing,
it would hardly be credited to-day that, having accepted, most
reluctantly, howerer, on June 12 preceding, the services of the
European and Eurasian civilian inhabitants of Calcutta as
volunteers, of* whom in less than three wecks, as Malleson
records, ‘a brigade was formed sufficiently strong to guard
Calcutta, and to enable the Government, had they deemed it
necessary, to send all the regular troops into the field,” where
their presence was sorely required in half a dozen places, a
brigade of volunteers, be it understood, composed of horse,
foot, and artillery—having, as I say, reluctantly accepted the
services of these thoroughly reliable men, the farce was kept
up of pretending to belicre in the untrustworthy natives who
constituted the Governor-General’s body-guard, who required
the concealed surveillance, from sunset to sunrise, of 100
British-European soldiers with loaded rifles! The men of
the 58rd Foot, whom Colonel Ewart and I found in the
basement of Government House that evening, should long
before that date have been on the road to Cawnpore, and a
regular guard openly mounted by day and night, composed
of the reliable and patriotic citizens, who, afler so much
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importunity had in June been wngraciously permitted to take
up military duties, should have been substituted for the
dangerous scarecrows who swaimed throughout GGovernment
House.

After dinner we adjourned with the ladies to the drawing-
room, where Sir Colin soon drew Lord Cauning aside, and,
gitting down in a corner of the room on a chair in front of
him, commenced a long and earnest conversation, which lasted
all the evening until we Jeft. I found myself shortly after-
wards at a whist-table with Sir William Mansfield, the chief
of Sir Colin’s Staff, as my partner—who was very cross with
me whenever we lost—Lord Dunkellin, and, I think, Sir
David Baird, Bart., one of Sir Colin’s aides-de-camp, being
the other two players.



[28]

CHAPTER V.
()
TIE MARCH UP-COUNTRY TO CAWNPORE.

AwLL the heavy baggage of the regiment was landed and stored
at Calcutta on the 21st, and the officers started with the
smallest kit they could arrange for a campaign of unknown
duration; my own baggage, for instance, consisted of two
small bullock-trunks and feather-bonnet case. On embarking
for China, the men had been provided with very ugly loose
brown coats of some stout cotton malterial, with red collars
and cuffs, originally meant for the boat work that was expected
in the China War; but they were worn by them throughout
the operations for both the relief and capture of Lucknow and
the subsequent campaign in Rohilkhand, and lasted very well.
The officers, however, had been advised to furnish themselves
with similar coats, made of alpaca, which were by no means
80 serviceablo, as I shall hereafler have to relate. We wore,
therefore, throughout the whole of the subsequent fighting the
regimental ITighland dress, including that most useful feature
of it, the feather-bonnet, and these brown coats with red
facings, officers and sergeants wearing in addition their
Highland sashes, to distinguish them from the men. A
Highland ofticer’s silk sash, which was always worn across
his left shoulder and never round his waist, as in English
regiments at the time of the Crimean War, was about four or
even five times the width of the English onec, and could”
always be utilized to carry its wearer, if wounded, off the field.
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Three hundred and fifty men, more than half the head-
quarters detachment from the Mauritius, embarked about
nine a.m. on September 22 on a transport flat lashed
alongside of a steam-tug of the same build, and started,
under the command of Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart,
for Chinsurah, a military station, with good barracks, some
forty miles higher up the river, where we arrived about
four p.m. Colonel Ewart appointed me to act as Adjutant of
his detachment. I find an entry in my diary, under date
September 23, of how sote of our men had, in their just
wrath, pitched a perfectly stark naked fakir, whom they
found walking about the station, into the Ganges, whence he
swam to shore again like a duck. This particular fakir was
even permitted to stroll down the Mall, when the few English
ladies in the station were riding or driving in the cool of the
evening, perfectly naked, with strings of cawri shells, tigers’
teeth, and several empty soda-water bottles, hung about his
body, or even attached by wires passed through holes bored
in his skin. DBefore the Mutiny, I belicve, these repulsive-
looking objects were everywherce allowed to invade the civil
and military stations throughout India —go anywhere, in fact,
and pretty well do as they liked. No doubt this brute was one
of those who purposcly paraded themsclves about European
stations in this guise to shock English women; but as the
Mutiny proved that such forgetfulness of the respect due to,
let us say, even the prejudices of the conquering race had no
mollifying effects on the conquered, no naked fakirs were ever
permitted to disport themselves in any cantonment I was
afterwards quartered in during the following twelve years of
my tour of duty in India. The cantonment magistrate of
Chinsurah privately expressod to several of the officers his
entire approval of our men’s summary method of putting a
stop to such ¢ customs of the country,” and I myself certainly
-never saw or heard of that ‘holy man’ strolling about the
cantonment again dressed in soda-water bottles and shells up
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to the date of the departure of the last detachment of the 98rd
from Chinsurah.

Lieutenant-Colonel Leith Hay, with the headquarters and
remainder of the 938rd from on board the Mauritius, arrived on
the 24th at Chinsurah ; and Lieutenant-Colonel the Honour-
able Adrian lIope, with the whole of his detachment from
H.M.S. Belleisle, on the 26th. At mess that night we heard
of the fall of Delhi on the 20th of the month, the anniversary
of the battle of the Alma. We, of course, received the news
with great cheering, drinking the health of the victors and
gallant survivors of that terrible siege with Highland
honours. Owing to all sorts of bad luck, those heroes were
never adequately rewarded.

As bearing upon Lord Roberts’ remarks on the want of
esprit de corps and slackness of diseipline amongst the Euro-
pean officers of the old East India Company’s army,” the
following entry in my diary, under date September 29, 1857,
shows the impression made upon myself at the time: ¢ Judg-
ing from the conversation of the British officers of all ranks
of the disbanded Sepoy regiments whom we have met during
the short time since we landed in India, it seems to me that
their very slack ideas of diseipline must have had something
to do with the mutiny of their men. Yesterday, for instance,
when returning by rail here’ (Chinsurah) ‘from Calcutta,
geveral officers of the H.E.I.C.S., whose regiments had
either mutinied or becn disbanded, were in the carriage in
which I was travelling, amongst them several elderly Captains
and Majors, who were all boasting of how a dozen of them
had been ordered to patrol the streets of Calcutta at night (or
the necighbourhood of their quarters, I am not sure which),
and that only two went! Now, such gross neglect of duty
could not happen in the Queen’s service, even in time of peace
in a quiet country town in Scotland or England. Figurez vous

* ¢ Forty-one Ycars in India,’ by Field-Marshal Lord Roberts, vol. i.,
Pp- 436, 437 and 449.
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such total want of discipline and military self-respect in these
times, and here, with the whole country in open or veiled
rebellion all round us I’*

On September 28 the first detachment of the rogiment
started for Allahabad, proceeding the first 125 miles by rail
to Raniganj, then the terminus of the railway from Calcutta,
and onwards from Raniganj by the bullock-train which Sir
Colin Campbell had organized to Allahabad. }ach dotach-
ment numbered about ninety noncommissioned oflicers and
men and four officers, the 3flicers travelling iwo and the men
four in a cart. What with the sand-flies and the joliing of
these springless vehicles, which never could do more than two
and a half miles an hour with bullocks and two miles an
honr with buffaloes, not to mention the oceasional bolting of
the bullocks, and more frequenily of the buflalocs, off the
road, and a wheel coming off now and then, it was very
difficult to sleep, even when off duty, for one officer at least
was always on duty, and walked, with a man from each cart
carrying his loaded rifle, for two hours at a time throughout
the night. The bullocks and buffaloes, with their coolie
drivers, were changed every eight or nine miles, but these
drivers persisted in going to sleep, and, falling off their seats,
were frequently killed by the waggons going over their heads.
From Raniganj to Allahabad by bullock-train took each detach-
ment fifteen nights, halting by day to avoid the heat of the sun
and rest and feed the men. No rations were provided for the

* Apropos of these comments of mine on the loose manner in which
the European officers of native regiments of the East India Company’s
service did their duty in 1857, I find at page 147 of vol. i. of Lieut.-
General Shadwell’s ¢ Life of Lord Clyde’ the following extract from the
diary of Sir Colin (then Colonel) Campbell, coomnanding 98th Foot, under
date February 15, 1847, just ten ycars previously, referring to an inter-
view he had that day with Lord IIardinge, the Governor-General. Colin
Campbell records: ¢ His lordship snid something about the native troops;
of the loose way the European officers did their duty; of his having found
dne of them when on guard in bed, and the guards without any written
orders,’
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officers, and we had to forage for ourselves as best we could.
At one of the dik bungalows, called Fitcuri, I found that
one of the previous tenants for the day had tried to relieve
his feelings on the discomforts of these halting-places in
these lines :
¢ With the flies and the heat, dogs, beggars, bad meat,
One suffers the torments of down below,

For these honours excessive, and heat most oppressive,
Are found here at Fitcooree Bungalow.’

These different halting-places wor® placed under the charge
of officers of the Company’s service whose regiments had
mutinied or been disbanded, and were tolerable, or otherwise,
to both men and officers, according to the temperaments of
the seldom too energetic gentlemen put in charge. The men
of my detachment chalked up names on each of their bullock-
carts, such as ¢ The Rattler,” ‘The Busy Bee,” ¢Kill the Darkie,’
‘ The Avenger,’ ete.

One of the serious inconveniences of the muzzle-loading
rifle was that, owing to the difticulty of drawing the charge,
the loaded rifles of the men who in turn acted as armed
escort to eaclhr detachment had to be handed from the men
going off to those going on duty, and always kept loaded,
whence several accidents happened during the journey of the
regiment up to Allahabad. We had always to be on the alert,
as the country on both sides of the road swarmed with rebels,
and our different detachments werc several times warned, by
such eivil authorities as had been able 1o be re-established
along the Grand Trunk Road, that regiments of Sepoys, who
had mutinied and murdered their officers, were marching
parallel to us on their way to Oudh. From the second stage
north of Raniganj to the seventh stage—that is to say, for a
distance of 167 miles—game of all sorts abounded, and at
night leopards were several times seen by the men and officers
of different detachments close to the road; but our Western
oyes were more particularly struck with the myriads of fire-
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flies in this part of the country, bespangling with their tiny
lights the darkness of the night.

The regiment only lost two men between Chinsurah and
Allahabad—one man drowned when bathing, and a piper who
died of cholera. The detachment to which the latter belongod
turned out in kilts and feather-bonnets for his funeral—for
we travelled in trews and forage-caps in the bullock-waggons
—and the costume so impressed a Sikh reghment which wit-
nessed the funeral that the men petitioned their commanding
officer to be supplied witl} the same uniform, ‘bonnets an’
pluids an’a’” At Allahabad each detachment on arrival went
inlo a standing camp, and we found Captain Peel, of IL.M.S.
Shannon, with some 500 sailors and marvines, quartered in the
fort there. The next stage of the journcy, some forty-eight
miles, was accomplished by rail to a place called Lohanga.
The detachment with which I myself went up couniry, under
the command of Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel Gordon, had left
Chinsurah on October 9, and reached Allahabad on the 25th.
On the 26th 1 was sent on to Lohanga by rail in ecommand of
n detachment of one Subaltern and eighty - nine noncom-
missionoed officers and men. I there made the acquaintance
of that most gallant sailor, Captain Pecl, of the Shannon, of
whom I saw a greal deal afterwards before his mclancholy,
because preventable, death. IIe arrived from Allahabad
shorily after my detachment had pitched tents, and handed
over to my charge for the night ten waggons loaded with shot
and shell, some rocket-tubes, and other siege equipment.
From Lohanga the detachments then proceeded by bullock-
train to Fathpur, in the Allahabad district; thence we
abandoned the train, and marched into Cawnpore, a distance
of forty-six miles, by three stages, starling every morning at
1 a.m. On and after our arrival at Lohanga, officers were
allowed to draw rations from the Commissariat Department of
bread, meat, rum, tea, and sugar, like the men, but on pay-
ment, of course.

8
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On November 2 I visited the ruins of Wheeler’s entrench-
ment, which even then, more than four months after his
surrender, was, to quote from my diary, °strewn with
fragments of music-books and Bibles, of ladies’ dresses and
ladies’ and children’s shoes, and even women's hair clotted
with blood.” On the 8rd I find I was on a Guard of Honour,
carrying the regimental colour, to receive Sir Colin in the
camp, as Commander-in-Chief ; instead of our ¢China coats,’
as we callel them, we wore our scarlet cloth tunics for this
occasion. His Excellency inspecied the guard and told us
we were all looking very well. He confirmed the report, that
had only just reached the regiment, of the action at Kajwa,
where 100 men of the 98rd Highlanders were engaged, and
Ensign Dick-Cunyngham * of the 93rd was severely wounded.

This fight at Kajwa, near Fathpur, was from all accounts a
private soldiers’ and regimental officers’ battle; for, after the
death of Colonel Powell of the 53rd Fool, commanding the
small force engaged (who was killed as he most gallantly led
a charge and -captured two guns from the encmy, which had
greatly annoyed the advance), no one seemed to know who
was in command, and soldiers, sailors and Royal Engineers
all fought for their own right hands. The next senior military
officer on the death of Colonel Powell, apparently considering
himself incompetent to assume the command,{ begged Captain
Peel to do so, a responsibility which, fortunately for all con-
cerned, Peel did not hesitate to assume, although, according
to the rules of the services, the junior military officer on land
takes precedence of a senior naval officer in the command of
the land forces, just as a junior Lieutenant at sea can order
about a Field Marshal. The 93rd lost in this affair, our first
encounter with the mutineers, 8 men killed, and 1 officer,

* The late Sir Robert Kecith Alexander Dick-Cunyngham, Bart., of
Prestonfield, Midlothian.

t+ I knew the man. Ile was distinctly right in his estimate of his
capacity for coinmand. *
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1 sergeant, and 14 rank and file wounded. It was estimated
that 800 of the enemy were killed, and 3 guns werc captured,
out of a total rebel force of some 8,000 men with 3 guns.
Sir Colin Campbell related to Capilain Burroughs, who com-
manded the Guard of Honour, as we ‘slood at case’ after he
had inspected us, in a clear voice which we all heard, how
narrowly he had escaped capture by a body of the enemy a
short way north of Allahabad. A record in my diary under
this date, November 3, 1857, runs thus: ¢ On Guard of TTonour
for the Chief, earrying regimental colour. Sir Colin arrived
about 11 a.m. with perhaps the smallest retinue ever scen
with a Commander-in-Chief in India. Ile and his whole staff
were packed into five dak gharries, his only escort consisting
of three men of the newly-raised low-castc mounted police
sent out from this station a few miles {0 meet himn.’

That same afternoon I was able to visil the house where
the women and children had heen slaughtered, about 200
altogether, by order of the Nana on July 15; and the well
into which the dead and dyiny were thrown next day, with
nuny living children who had escaped the swords of the
butchers (for the murderers were bhutchers by trade), when
they were killing the mothers the day before, and were on the
16th, poor little things, ‘running about, scared and wonder-
struck, beside the well.’* Leave had been granted, to all the
officers and men applying for it, to visit the °Slaughter-
Ilouse,” as we called it; and when I entered the tiny court-
yard, through a low and narrow rough native doorway, I
found several sailors of the Shannon, who had been arrested
by the sight that met the cyes of all those who stepped across
that threshold. The moment they entered they had uncovered
their heads, as I did when 1 glanced round the little yard with
its dead tree standing in the centre, as if it had been blasted
l:y the horrors it had witnessed. The yard was still strewn,

¥ Malleson’s ¢ History of the Indian Mutiny,’ vol. ii., p. 281.
3—2
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a8 Wheeler’s entrenchment was, with fragments of women'’s
and children’s dresses and shoes, and instead of leaves, this
blighted tree was literally covered with tiny rags of women’s
and children’s garments, which fluttered with a weird effect,
even under a bright sun, in the breeze. Inside the small
house, although by the justly retributive decrec of Brigadier-
General Neill a good deal had been done to clean it, there
were still great splashes of blood up the walls for some feet
above the floors all round the rooms; and round the pillars
of the veranda there were marks of their baving been clasped
by arms covered with blood. Out through the little house at
the other side there was a small ‘compound,” as such en-
closures are called in India, which had been under eultivation,
and where the well was situated which had been reverently
covered in by order of Brigadier-General Neill ; bul as the
mouth of this well was almost surrounded by cactus and other
prickly plants and bushes, great quantities of human hair
were still clinging to these—hair which had evidently been
torn or cut ‘from the hcads of the murdered women and
children of all ages. I collected a mixed lock of this hair, a
relie I still preserve. General Sir John Ewart, in his book
entitled ‘The Story of a Soldier’s Life,” relates at p. 58,
vol. ii., how he found, near these bushes, ‘the head of one of
our poor countrywomen ; it had beautiful teeth, and may have
belonged to some fair girl of eighteen.’

After collecting some of the hair, I turned back to the
building itself and re-entered its yard to note the demeanour
of the men as they entered it. Over the wall which enclosed
this yard on the side opposite the little house—a wall of about
eight or nine feet high, perhaps—one could hear the men of
both services laughing and talking as they approached the
small entrance to this yard which I have already described ;
but as each little knot of soldiers or sailors entered, a sudden
silence would fall on the group, and they all immediateiy
uncovered ; the instant silence and the look which came over
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their faces, first of bewilderment, which quickly turned to
anger as they began to realize the situation, was most
striking. When they had gone round the rooms and visited
the well, groups of both our men and the sailors, before leaving
the little courtyard, would pause, and with uplifted hands
solemnly swear to have vengeance on the murderers and all
their race, a proceeding which they would, after the manner of
the phlegmatic and undemonstrative Briton, have most likely
stigmatized as ‘ theatrical j had they read of others doing so.
Quictly looking back at this day upon that experience, 1 feel
quite sure that each and all of us who were thus moved by
the sight of that shambles, from drummer-boy to general
officer, did their individual best to falfil that vow. Colonel
Malleson asserts, at p. 281 of the second volume of his
Ilistory, that ‘nonec were mutilated.” The finding of a
lady’s head near the well by General Ewart sulficiently dis-
proves that theory, and in addition to that we were shown a
tree near the well—a dead tree, too, like that in the courtyard
—with marks of nails on the bark, and of gashes as of hatchets
or large knives, tho trunk of the tree being also heavily stained
with blood, where we were told that children had been erucified
hoad downwards, and done to death Dby the natives throwing
talirdrs—the native eurved sword—at them.

During the time I was then at Cawnpore, from November 1
to 4, 1857, rebel Sepoys and other natives convicled in a
summary civil court, which sat all day and every day, of
being concerned in the massacres at Cawnpore in any way,
were being hung on a gallows accommodating five or six at a
time, from sunrise to sunset, sometimes until still later ; the
stern orders for the manner of their execution being rigidly
carried out as issued by that magnificent soldier, kind-
hearted gentleman, and, according to Malleson,* ¢ God-fearing
?cotchman, with something in him of the old Covenanter

* Malleson’s ¢ History of the Indian Mutiny,’ vol. ii., p. 97.
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type,’ Brigadier-General James Neill of the Kast India
Company’s Service, when left by Havelock in command at
Cawnpore during the previous month of July. With reference
to this order, Colonel Neill said in a letter written home in
July, 1857 :

‘T issued the following order, which, however objectionable
in tho estimation of some of our Brahmanized infatuated
elderly gentlemen, I think suited to the occasion, or rather to
the present crisis, July 25, 1857. The well in which are the
remains of the poor women and chfldren so brutally murdered
by this miscreant, the Nana, will be filled ap, and neatly and
decently covered over to form their grave: a parlty of
European soldiers will do so this evening, under the super-
intendence of an officer. The house in which they were
butchered, and which is stained with their blood, will not be
washed or cleaned by their countrymen; but Drigadier-
General Neill has determined that covery stain of that
innocent blood shall be eleared up and wiped out, previous to
their executiom, by such of the miscreants as may be here-
after apprehended, who took an active part in the Mutiny, to
be selected according to their rank, casle, and degree of guilt.
Each miscreant, after sentence of death is pronounced upon
him, will be taken down tu the house in question, under a
guard, and will be forced into cleaning up a small portion of
the blood-stains ; the task will be made as revolting to his
feelings as possible, and the Provost-Marshal will use the lash
in forcing anyone objecting to completc his task. After
properly cleaning up his portion, the culprit is to be
immediately hanged, and for this purpose a gallows will be
erected close at hand. The first culprit was a subhadar of the
6th Native Infantry, a fat brute, a very high Brahman. The
sweeper’s brush wag put into his hands by a swecper, and he
was ordered to set to work. He had about half a square foot
to clean ; he made some objection, when down came the lasl,
and he yelled again; he wiped it all up clean, and was then
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hung, and his remains buried in the public road.* Some
days after, others were brought in—one a Muhammadan
officer of our civil court, a great rascal, and one of the leading
men : he rather objected, was flogged and made to lick part
of the blood with his tongue. No doubt this is a strange law,
but it suits the occasion well, and I hope I shall not be
interfered with until the room is thoroughly cleansed in this
way. . . . 1 will hold my own with the blessing and help of
God. 1 cannot help sceing that His finger is in all this—we
have been false to ourselve} so often.’

Going back to camp that cvening past the headquarter
tents, I encountered Sir Colin walking about near his own
tent by himself, evidently in decp thought, and with the
anxious look on his face 1 had noticed at Government House,
Calcutta : whether he was as affable to everyone as he was to
most of the officers of the 93rd, especially to the juniors like
myself, I do not know; but as I saluted and was passing on
he stopped, and in hig abrupt, quick manner, asked me where
I had been sight-seeing. I told him how I bhad just returned
from the ‘ Slaughier-House ' and well, and ventured to add
that 1 thought the sight of it to the troops and sailors was
worth 10,000 men to Sir Colin himself, and that it was a pity
that every officer and man in the force could not be marched
there to see it. T understood him to say that he himself had
not yet then made the pilgrimage. Those, however, who had
not an opportunity of visiting the ¢ Slaughter-House * before
we marched out of Cawnpore, had no chance of seeing it on
our return from the relief of Lucknow, for we were informed
when wo returned to Cawnpore that the Gwalior contingent
(after defeating Windham’s force and driving them into the
fort close to the banks of the Ganges), somewhat scared, no
doubt, by the steady way in which the British had continued
to prosecute their just vengeance against all connected with
the murders there, by the large numbers of daily executions

* lustead of being eremated, in necordunce with the Hindu religion.
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which had been going on within the * compound’ of the
¢ Slaughter-House * from the date of the British re-oceupation
of the place, and hoping that our vengeance might be stayed,
perhaps, by the obliteration of the site of the murders of the
women and children, had razed the house to the ground, cut
down all the trees and bushes in the necighbourhood, and had
even endeavoured to obliterate all traces of the site itself and
that of the well, by ploughing up and levelling the ground all
about it; at any rate, thus effectively putting a stop to part of
the punishment decreed for the lurderers by General Neill.
As to the gallows, I do not know if it was re-crected near the
site of the ¢ Slaughter-House,” or nearer to the town itself,
after our return.

Some years after the entire suppression of the rebellion,
the whole neighbourhood of the well was converted into a
beautifully laid-out public garden, which I visited in January,
1870, when the 98rd was on its way from Central India to
Secotland. Admission to the garden was then, however, most
properly prohibited to all natives of India, excepl the necessary
native gardeners, whatever their rank or race, and even the
native gardeners were not permitted to enter the inner
enclosure surrounding the well, which was itsclf surmounted
by a handsome colossal statue of an angel in white warble,
by Marochetti. It was Lord Lawrence, I believe, who after-
wards cancelled these regulations.
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CIIAPTER VI
.
THE ADVANCE FROM CAWNPORE FOR THE RELIEF OF LUCKNOW.

O~ the morning of October 30, a force under the command of
Brigadier-General Hope Grant, Colonel commanding the
9th Lancers, had crossed the Ganges at Cawnpore into Oudh ;
it consisted of the 9th Lancers, some Panjab cavalry, twenty
guns, the remnants of Iler Majesty’s 8th and 75th Foot from
Delhi (not more than 800 strong eacli), 8830 meun of the 93rd
Highlanders under Brevet-Licutenant-Coloncel Ewart, 150
men of Her Majesty’s 58rd Foot, 70 men of Her Majesty’s
5th Fusiliers, and two battalions of Panjab 1nfantry of about
400 men each ; the infantry being divided into two brigades
commanded respectively by Brigadiers Gireathed and Adrian
Hope. This force had a skirmish with the enemy on
November 2 at Banthra, a fortified village a little way off the
main road, about ten miles from Lucknow, which was stormed
and captured by two companies of the 93rd under Colonel
Ewart, and detachments of the 5th Fusiliers and 53rd Foot;
two other companies of the 98rd, under Adrian Hope, having
been engaged about the same time in another skirmish nearer
Banni and the Alambagh, in which they captured a gun.
The operations this day cost the various corps engaged
seventeen men killed and wounded (of whom one killed and
three wounded belonged to the 93rd), and Captain Mackenzie,
78th Highlanders, shot through the leg.

The force under Lieutenant-Colonel Leith Hay, 98rd, of
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which my company formed a part, did not cross the Ganges
into Oudh until the morning of November -4, before daylight,
and covering from twelve to sixteen miles every day, marching
at two a.m. to avoid the heat of the sun, we rcached Camp
Banthra, escorting four 24-pounders and other siege equip-
ment, on the morning of the Tth. We found Brigadier-
General Hope Grant encamped there with his force, with
orders to await there the arrival of the Commander-in-Chief
before continuing our advance on Lucknow. On the after-
noon of the 6th, Colonel Leith Hay’s force had been turned
out at three p.m. by our pickets mistaking some Panjab cavalry,
on their way back to Cawnpore, escorting a train of 1,000
camels, for the enemy's cavalry. The whole force turned out,
dressed anyhow, within a very few minutes, and it would have
fared badly with the encmy had it proved to be an altack on
our camp, for smart as we were in falling in with our arws in
hand, the sailors under Ieel himself had ¢ tumbled out ' even
quicker, on the ery of ¢ stand to your arms,” and had manned
and loaded their 21-pounders, and trained the guns on the
advancing party, before we had completed the * telling off * of
our companics.

On the 9th, Sir Colin Campbell with the headquarter staff
joined us at Banthra; on the 10th, Major and Drevet-
Lieutenant-Colonel Gordon, 93rd, joined us with two more
companies ; and on the 13th, the company which had been
in the fight with Captain Pecl at Kajwa also joined. The
whole regiment was therefore now together again, except the
two officers and fifty men for whom the (uartermaster-
General’s department in England had failel to provide
accommodation when we embarked for China at Portsmouth
and Plymouth as previously related. On the 11th, Sir Colin
had inspected his small ®army,” which never exceeded in
numbers 4,200.

Sir Colin made a very shorl speech to each regiment,
battalion, and detachment, which was received in perfect
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silence by all but the 98rd Highlanders; but directing us to
‘gtand at ease,” he made one of his stirring little Napoleonic
addresses, earnestly delivered, which seemed always to reach
the men’s hearts. Pointing in the direction of Lucknow, he
told us we were about to advance for the rclief of our country-
men and countrywomen, hemmed in there by overwhelmingly
superior numbers ; that it would be a duty of difficulty and
danger, bui thal ke relicd on us. Where Sir Colin was always
marhedly Napoleonic, wis in addressing troops always as
¢ goldiers I’ which he pron'(‘)unced ‘sol-jers ’; and further in
the pithy brevity of such speeches. The long harangues I
have scen attributed to him in reminiscences written years
afterwards arc purely imaginary. As the Chief rode back to
his tent after the inspection, along the front of the other corps
and detachments who had previously reccived him in silence,
inspired apparently Ly our exawmple, and our testimony to the
confidence we entertained in him as our leader, as demon-
strated by the mightly cheer he received from a thousand
Scottish throats, the other uropean troops, *to whom he
was a stranger, gave him cheer upon cheer along the whole
line.

Next morning, November 12, the army set out for the
Alambagh. Tt was an enclosure of 500 yards square, laid
out originally as a garden, with a building in the centre
containing many rooms on the first floor, huilt by the last
King of Oudh as an oceasional residence for a favourite wife.
The mutincers had been driven out of it on September 23 by
Havelock’s force, and it had been gallantly retained, in the
teeth of strenuous attempts frequently renewed by the enemy
to recapture it, as a most important fortified post, being
within a couple of miles of Lucknow and commanding the road
to Cawnpore. We encamped at a little distance from the fort
on the Cawnpore side about threc p.m. on the 12th. During
the march that day our advance guard had a smart skirmish
with a body of the enemy, consisting of cavalry, infantry, and
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artillery. In this affair the gallant Hugh Gough* won his
V.C., being then a Lieutenant in Hodson’s Horse, capturing
two of the enemy’s guns when leading o squadron of his
regiment.

It was during the afternoon of this day that a curious
incident occurred, which is referred to by Lord Roberts at
p- 800 of his first volume. Those of us off duty in the camp,
which had not been pitched till three p.m. after a harassing
morning’s march from Banthra, had, after partaking of some
sort of meal, and having indulged in a good wash, lain down
in our tents, both officers and men, for a few hours’ sleep.
I myself was sound asleep on my * little truckle bed,” when the
¢alarm,’ quickly followed by the ¢assembly,” sounded all over
the camp. I turned out at once, in my sleeping suit, a feather
bonnet and a pair of stout shoes, my drawn claymore in one
hand and a loaded revolver in the other, with my rolled great-
coat, which officers as well as men earried on the march, over
my shoulder. As my greatcont always contained a shirt, a
pair of socks,.a towel, a tooth-brush and a piece of soap, 1 felt
equipped for every contingeney. On our parade-ground in
front of the camp facing Lucknow, the regiment was rapidly
falling in, almost everyone in equally ridiculous costumes, the
men of course with their rifles and sixty rounds of ammuni-
tion in their pouches. The officers were so engaged in telling
off their companies and looking to their men, that there
was no time to look about onc or ask questions. We were
assembled in open column of companies in less than ten
minutes, I should say, and were wheeled into line in less
than twelve from the sounding of the first bugle. Then we
had time to look about us, and, mutually ignoring our
individually comic appearance, we strained our eyes towards

* Now General Sir Hugh Gough, G.C.B., V.C., of the Tndian Staff
Corps, Keeper of the Crown Jewels. For the details of this brilliant
little affuir, see the article in the Pall Mall Magazine, of November, 1890,
written by Sir Hugh himself.
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the Alambagh and Lucknow in our front, to see what could
be the cause of the alarm, as there was no firing.

A little to the west and our left of the Alambagh Fort, a
strong picket, consisting of two Horse Artillery guns, a troop
of the 9th Lancers, and 100 men of the 98rd Ilighlanders,
had been posted in a grove of trees covering our front, at
fully a mile off. DBy the time wo had been whecled into line,
the whole of this picket was seen to be in full flight over the
plain towards us; the gugs galloping independently of each
other; the cavalry troopers and infantrymen rushing towards
the camp individually! Although I believe the artillery in
camp loaded with grape when they turned out, I know there
was a pause whilst Colonel Leith Ilay endeavoured to see if
it was neccssary to order the men of the 98rd to load; for, in
those days of muzzle-loaders, there was quite a serious wastc
of cartridges if they were eventually not required. Then I, for
one, began to notice that little swarms of insects were follow-
ing almost every one, especially the horses, darting down
every now and then on the heads of the men "and all about
the horses. I fancy each and all of us realized at the same
moment what had happened; anyway, some sensible staff
officer ordered the bugles to sound the °disperse,” but did not
deem it necessary to follow it up with the ¢double,’ for every
one of us on parade raced back to our tents, to get inside and
shut them up before the picket and the hornets arrived! The
fwo guns and all the cavalry galloped through the eamp, and
did not shake off the hornets for some miles beyond it, our
own men being cautiously admitted, without the hornets, to
their respective company tents.

With reference to the camp story, which Lord Roberts
repeats, of our men’s remarks on the unsuitability of the kilt
for resisting an attack of hornets (‘ bees’ he calls them), I am
afraid that the facts will not bear out the probabilities of any
‘such remarks having really been made at all, but that, like
the ‘ Up, Guards, and at them! of Waterloo, and the ‘ Gentle-
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men of the English Guard, fire first!’ of Fontenoy, must be
relegated to the list of historical anecdotes which, if not true,
ought to have been.” The facts were, that none of our men,
as far as I could learn from inquiry at our hospital that
evening, had been treated for stings on their bare legs ; but a
good many for severc slings on their head, face and hands;
they had all, however, insisted—after being treated by our
surgeons—upon returning to their duty forthwith, whatever
their punishment by the hornets had been. The men of the
Horse Artillery and cavalry were in the same case, but their
horses suffered much more severely than the men themselves,
a large percentage of the horses having to be replaced for
picket duty that night. When the picket had re-assembled
and the men composing it, with swollen faces, heads and
hands, were marched back to the grove of trees towards
sunset, a different point in the wood had to be selected for
them. The hornets had been roused hy a trooper of the
9th Lancers of a too inquisitive turn of mind, who, seeing the
swarm on the branch of a tree in the grove where the picket
was bivouacked, and within easy reach of his lance, unfor-
tunately poked at it with that weapon, with the disastrous
results I have attempted to describe. That the swarm were
hornets, and East Indian hornets, there was abundant evidence;
besides, I do not think there are any bees in the plains of
India, though they are quite common in the Himalayas; and
as any hornet I ever saw in India was about four times the
size of our wasp, with proportionate stinging power, one can
understand why the picket made that ¢ strategic movement to
its rear,’ and why the mounted branches of the service con-
tinued that movement far past our camp, where our bare-
legged infantry found shelter.

In the campaign of the 93rd, in the cold weathor of 1858-59,
under Brigadier Colin Troup, for the final pacification of Oudh,
we bad two similar experiences; once, when the 93rd, whilst
pitching their tents in a large grove of trees, were dispersed
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all over the country in consequence of some idiot having
thrown a stone at a similar swarm of hornets, when several
officers and many men were placed on the sick-list owing to
serious stings about the head and face (again the bare knees
went scatheless); and on another occasion, during the same
campaign, when another idiot in the ranks thrust his rifle
into a swarm which he saw clinging to a branch of a bush
past which we were marching, on a country track which could
not be called a road. On that occasion, being mounted bare-
legged on my pony at the time, I think 1 must have ridden
some two miles at a gallop, straight away from the column
into the enemy’s country, without looking over my shoulder,
before I drew bridle. Having once heen stung by one hornet,
I preferred to risk the chance of single combat with a militant
Rohilla, or even with half a dozen of them, rather than face
a swarm of Hindustani hornets!

On November 13 our little army halted at the camp near
the Alambagh, where, in the coursc of the day, our tents and
the heavier part of our then very light baggagd were stored.
A force of the three arms, under Drigadier the Ionourable
Adrian Hope, 93rd, which I accompanicd, was sent by Sir
Colin to drive the enemy out of the fort of Jalalabad,” about
three miles off. We found it evacuated, however, and were
engaged the greater part of the duy in rendering it useless to
the enemy, by destroying one of its faces. When we returned
to the camnping-ground in the afternoon, we found the force
preparing to bivouac for the night, and, as it turned out, we
lived in the open, and did not get under canvas again until
the 25th—thirteen days afterwards—when we withdrew our
tents from store and repitched camp close to the Alambagh
once more. In vol. vi. of Theodore Martin’s ¢ Life of the
Prince Consort,’ a letter is given from Her Majesty the Queen
to Viscount Canning, of November 9, 1857, in which, towards
the end, the Queen wrote: ‘ We are delighted to hear such
good accounts of Sir Colin Campbell, to whom we ask Lord
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Canning to remember us most kindly. We can well imagine
his delight at seeing his gallant and splendid 98rd, whom we )
saw at Gosport in June just before they left.” From which it
appears that the Queen had not forgotten her inspection of
us, which I have previously described.

On the afternoon of the 18th, the Commander-in-Chief
headed a reconnaissance towards the Charbagh Bridge, on the
direct road to Lucknow, across which Havelock’s advance had
been made, to induce the enemy to believe that our force
would pursue the same line of advance. Leaving the 75th Foot
—reduced by its arduous labours during the siege and capture
of Delhi to about 300 war-worn men—to garrison the Alam-
bagh, with 50 Sikhs of the Regiment of Firuzpur and some
artillerymen, the whole under the command of Captain Moir,
Bengal Artillery, Sir Colin issued orders for us to commence
our march on Lucknow next morning; each officer and man
to carry in his haversack provisions for three days, and the
Commissariat Department to carry further supplies for the
whole force for fourteen days more. Ile trusted to the last
reinforcements he expected from Cawnpore being able to join
him during the march next day, the 14th,* which they did,
numbering altogethcr about 700 men, composed of " Royal
Engineers and Royal Artillery, two guns of the Madras Horse
Artillery, the headquarters of the 28rd Royal Welsh Fusiliers,
a detachment of the 82nd Foot, and 200 men of the Military
Train who had been taken from their waggons and turned
into cavalry for the nonce. Owing to their short stature and
breadth of beam, our men dubbed them ‘the Dumpies,’ and
as they were all quite young soldiers, they looked exactly like
a very rural corps of Yeomanry Cavalry on the first day of
assembly for the annual training; but their hearts were all
in the right place, and they manfully did their best to stick
to their horses and do cavalry duty.

# Malleson, in his ‘ History of the Indian Mutiny,’ vol. iv., p. lél,
makes this reinforcement join on the 13th.
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The composition of Sir Colin Campbell’s force which he led
to the relief of Lucknow (for it is a misnomer to designate
Havelock’s reinforcement of the garrison of the Residency as
a ‘relief’ of that post, seeing that his men were permanently
shut up in it from the day they reached it until actually
relieved by Sir Colin), after all reinforcements had joined,
was as follows: The Naval Brigade, commanded by Captain
‘Wm. Peel, consisting of 250 seamen and marines of H.M.S.
Shannon from Calcutta, hgving with them six 24-pounders
and two howitzers, all drawn by bullocks, and two rocket-tubes
mounted on light carts. The Artillery Brigade, commanded
by Brigadier Crawford, Royal Artillery, composed of two
companies of Garrison Royal Artillery, under 'I'ravers and
Longden, equipped with 18-pounder guns and mortars;
Remmington and Blunt’s troops of the magnificent Bengal
Horse Artillery ; two guns of Madras Horse Artillery, under
Captain Bridge ; Middleton’'s Royal Artillery, and Bourchier’s
Bengal Field Batteries. The Cavalry Brigade, commanded by
Brigadier Little, was composed of two squadrons 9th Lancers,
one squadron each of the 1st, 2nd, and 5th Panjab Native
Cavalry, and one of Hodson's Horse. The Engineers, under
Lieutenant Lennox, Royal Engineers, was composed of &
company of the Royal Engineers, a company of Madras Sappers,
a few Bengal Sappers from Delhi, and two companies of Panjab
Pioneers, who had only recently been raised and were untried
men.

The infantry was divided into three brigades, composed as
follows: 8rd Brigade, commanded by Brigadier Greathed,
consisting of the 8th Foot; a battalion of detachments of
three of the regiments shut up in the Residency, namely, the
5th Fusiliers and 64th Foot and the 78th Highlanders, the
latter dressed like the English regiments, this battalion of
detachments being commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Hamil-
t6n, 78th; and lastly, the 2nd Panjab Native Infantry. The
4th Brigade, commanded by Brigadier the Honourable Adrian

4
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Hope, Second Lieutenant-Colonel of the 98rd Highlanders,
was composed of the 93rd Highlanders, who paraded with a
strength of 984 bayonets, and 48 officers of all ranks, includ-
ing the non-combatant officers, namely, the Paymaster, the
Quartermaster, the Surgeon and three Assistant-surgeons, and
an interpreter attached from one of the East India Company’s
mutinied native infantry regiments; a wing of the 53rd Foot,
which, owing to the death of Colonel Powell ait Kajwa and a
dearth of field officers in thg corps, was placed under the com-
mand of Major and Brevet-Lieutenunt-Colonel C. H. Gordon¥*
of the 98rd Highlanders ; the 4th Panjal Native Infantry, and
another weak battalion of detachments of regiments shut up
in the Residency, composed of companies of the 81th and 90th
Foot and 1st Madras Fusiliers, under the command of Major
Barnston of the 90th Foot. The 5th Brigade, commanded by
Brigadier Russell, was composed of the headquarters and four
companies of the 23rd IRoyal Welsh Fusiliers, and a detachment
of the 82nd Foot. Brigadier-General Hope Grant, Colonel of
the 9th Lancers, commanded the whole force, under the im-
mediate supervision of the Commander-in-Chief himself.

On the morning of November 11 we were under arms by
8ix o’clock, and the advance guard moved off at nine a.m.,
after the men had partaken of a good breakfast. Instead of
following the main road into Lucknow, along which the force
under Havelock had advanced, across the Charbagh Bridge,
and between which and the Licsidency even stronger obstacles
had been thrown up than Havelock had encountered, our force
kept to the south of the Alambagh Fort and struck across the
open fields—for thore are few, if any, fences in India—meeting
with no opposition from the enemy until within musketry-
range of the wall of the Dilkusha deer park, a summer
residence of the Oudh Royal Family, where, at this time, deer
still abounded, although many breaches had been made in
tHe park walls in every direction by the rebels.

* The late Licutenant-General C. H, Gordon, C.H,
4—2
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On this occasion, as again in the month of March following,
when we advanced to the capture of the city, and in many
other instances throughout India during the rebellion, the
natives gave ns striking proof of their absolute incapacity for
original thinking. They are faithful copyists, but cannot
think out a new idea. As Havelock had advanced by the
Charbagh, we, according to their reasoning, would do the
same, and they were evidenily taken completely by surprise
and proportionately disconcertedewhen our force turned off
to the east of the city and headed for the Martiniére via the
Dilkusha Park; the Sepoys being observed hastily throwing
up earthworks across the different roads we crossed at right
angles leading into the city from the east, and look-out men
watching our column from the tops of trees all along our
route. In addition to the musketry-fire which was opened on
the head of the column when approaching the Dilkusha, some
light guns now opened on us; and the advance guard being
then reinforced with artillery from our main body, the 1st
battalion of detachments, under Lieulenant-Colonel Hamilton,
composed of companies of the 5th Fusiliers, 64th Foot, and
78th Highlanders, with the 8th Foot in support, the enemy
was driven through the grounds of the Dilkusha Park over
the crest of the hill overlooking the Martinitre College and
down into that large building itself. A heavy fire was then
opened from tho Martinitre of both musketry and artillery,
which Remmington’s Horse Artillery, Bouchier’s Field Battery,
and a heavy howitzer brought up by Captain Hardy, Royal
Artillery, proceeded to reply to; during which the 93rd was
formed up in quarter-distance column, under cover of some
mud walls, to the rear of the Dilkusha, the regiment having
lost, so far, 1 man killed and 7 wounded from the fire of the
rebel artillery, which appeared to make fairly good practice,
as we marched across their front in open column, before they
found themselves tackled by our own batteries. During this
advance in open column, with the round shot from the enemy’s
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batteries bowling from our left flank between all the companies,
our men joked amongst themselves about there seeming to be
‘g guid wheen footba’s kicking aboot Lucknow.’

The 93rd piled arms and were allowed to fall out and rest
whilst our artillery were silencing the enemy’s guns. But
a short period, however, elapsed, before Lieutenant-Colonel
Hamilton’s battalion of detachments and the 8th Foot
charged down the slope and carried the Martiniere ;* the
enemy, not waiting to rece{ye them, but bolting singly beyond
the canal, pursued by some of our Panjab Cavalry, were pretty
well cut up. Liecutenant John Watson,t commanding a
squadron of Panjab Cavalry, actually charged a hody of the
encmy’s horse by himself, and was engaged in a hand-to-hand
encounter with the rebel leader, who was supported by six of
his followers, when Licutenant Probyn! caught sight of him
contending against such unequal odds, and galloped with
some of his own men to his assistance. Probyn rescued his
comrade Watson, who slew his man: he turned out to be a
native officer of the 15th Irregular Cavalry, which had
mutinied at Sultanpur in Oudh on June 9, murdering one of
the officers. Watson was justly awarded the Vietoria Cross
for this exploit. By noon Sir Colin found himself in posses-
sion of both the Dilkusha Palace and the Martinicre College,
with all the ground between these two buildings and the
canal from Major Banks’ house to its junction with a branch
of the River Gumti; our advanced posts holding the right
bank of the canal, and the enemy in great force, close up to
us, on the opposite bank; his [whole attention Leing now

* The Martiniére College was built and endowed by General Claude
Martin, a Frenchman in the service of the King of Oudh, who transferred
his services to the Llast India Company when Oudh was annexed by the
British,

1 Now General Sir John Watson, V.C., K.C.B., Bombay Stafl Corps.

. 1 Now General Sir Dighton Macnaghten Probyn, V.C., K.C.B.,K.C.8.L,
G.V.0,, Bengal Cavalry, Controller and Treasurer of tho Ilousehold of
H.R.H. the Prince of Wales.
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directed to the roads leading straight from the Dilkusha
across a bridge over the canal at Banks’ house (see plan on
P. 50), and another road from the Martini¢re leading straight
into the city.

The officers and men of the 98rd Highlanders were dressed
throughout these operations in kilis and feather-bonnets, our
brown China Expedition loose coats with red facings, with
our rolled great-coats slung across the right shoulders and
under the left arms of the men, amd the left shoulders of the
officers. The men had sixty rounds of ball-cartridge to carry
in their pouches, their Enfield muzzle-loading rifle, a
haversack and water-bottle. All officers and sergeants wore
their sashes, the officers, of course, carrying their claymores,
and some their dirks also, and most of the officers a loaded
revolver with at least five extra rounds of ammunition for it.

The officers’ great-coats weighed quite twice as much as
those of the men, and in mine I always carried a flannel-shirt,
pair of socks, a tooth-brush, soap and a towel, as I have
before mentioned. The rolled great-coat saved many lives
amongst officers, non-commiissioned officers and men, not
only at the relief, bul afterwards in the month of March,
1858, at the final capture of Lucknow and at other engage-
ments during these campaigns, by intercepting the enemy’s
bullets, which in many instances were found embedded in the
folds of the great-coat, which was itself, of course, riddled
with holes when opened out.

On the morning of the 14th we all had three days’
provisions in our haversacks, and water or rum and water in
our water-bottles. The virtues of tea as a beverage to fight
upon had not then been discovered in the British Army, and
I am sure it would have been exceedingly difficult to have
persuaded Sir Colin to have adopted if, for on the eventful
November 16, by the morning of which everyone had eaten
up their three days’ provisions, what with extra issues
specially ordered for the 98rd by Sir Colin himself, we must
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have had some four or five rations of rum altogether that day.
I have an idea that with the hard physical exercise and the
mental strain we all underwent on that occasion, it not only
did us no harm, but that we worked better on that rum than
we should have done on tea; anyway, the results were highly
satisfactory.*

About two p.m. the company of the 93rd to which I belonged,
under Captain F. W. Burroughs, was advanced on outpost
duty to a corner of the Dilgusha Park, in the direction of the
canal, with high walls bounding the park on our left and
front. After the arms were piled, Burroughs and I mounted
a sort of bastion, which jufted out beyond the wall in our
front, at the point where the other high wall on our left
joined it at right angles. To our front the view was closed in
by a wood and thick undergrowth, but there was a broad
clearing running along both to our right and left outside this
wall. To our right, in which direction we first happened to
look, we saw another similar bastion to that on which we
were standing, jutting out from the wall of the park we were
in: then turning to our left, we were amazed to see another
such bastion jutting out from the wall of what looked like
another park on our left, from which we were separated by
the wall running at right angles to the wall in our front, of
which I have already spoken. This bastion was crowded by
men whom we concluded to be the ememy, and they were
not more than fifty yards away. They were dressed in scarlet
cloth coatees such as the English infantry wore at the
beginning of the Crimean War, huge old-fashioned shakos,
white cross belts with portmanteau-like ammunition pouches
attached, but instead of trousers, the loose white or rather
pinkish-coloured flowing native loin-cloth arranged on the
limbs to look like what are called in England Turkish

** I fully appreciate the advantages of making ‘Tosh’ and ¢ Tommy
f&tkins ’ tectotalers in time of peace, but advocate a ¢ dispensation’ for them
In time of war, with the rum-barrel under proper control.
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trousers; instead of the military regulation boot they wore
native shoes, what would again be called in this country
Turkish slippers. The parapets of the bastions were so low
that we could see each other from top to toe, and they had
evidently observed us, and could be under no mistake as to
who we were, before we saw them, for after those we were
looking at had had a good look at us, they would descend and
make room for another contingent. They had no muskets in
their hands, as their arms, like gour men’s, were probably
piled in the park below; but I cannot understand why they
did not open fire on us. We did not do so, because neither
Burroughs nor 1 were quite sure they were enemies, for we
had all been warned that there were a few loyal Pandies* in
the Residency, and as our ¢is-a-cis did not fire we wero puzzled.
Burroughs allowed our men to come up in little groups to
have a look at them as they were doing with us; but it was
noticeable from their grave looks that these Pandies did not
treat our—to them—equally strunge appearance in kilts and
feather-bonnets as our men treated their half-European, hali-
native costume; our men Jaughed at them uproariously,
whilst Pandy did not seem to see anything to laugh at.

When Burroughs and I came down, leaving a sentry on the
bastion, I volunteered to follow down the wall on our left,
which separated us from them, and try and find an opening,
if he would let me take two men with me, and ascertain some-
how whether they were friends or foes. DBurroughs at once
consented, and as all the men of the company offered to
accompany me, I selected two privates and we started down
the wall to our left rear. The two men I selected were the
two privates who, when prisoners on board the Mauritius on

# The rebel Sepoys received tho name of ‘Pandies’ from Maughal
Pandy, of the 34th Native Infantry, the name of the first Sepoy of the
Bengal Native Army who openly mutinied and fired at his officers, on
March 29, 1857, six weeks beforc the general outbreak at Mirath, on
May 10 following.
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the morning of July 14, had threatened to ¢ do for’ me on the
first opportunity. Needless to say they had forgotten all
about it, for, as I have said, although they were bhoth violent-
tempered men, only to be kept in order by fear of the lash,
they were smart, good soldiers ; so, when some hundred yards
or more down the dividing wall we found a breach admitting
us into the other park, and had begun to stalk cautiously
back up the other side, and I stopped and reminded them of
their threats, they both lagked exceedingly foolish, and had
they been Frenchmen would certainly have made a scene.
My reconnoitring party had not proceeded far up the
enemy'’s side of the wall, before we hegan to hear hullets
humming away over our heads from our own rear, and halting
to listen, soon heard the voices and presently saw the men of
a Panjab infantry regiment skirmishing through the wood
towards us; we then stood up and slowly advanced to meet
them, and I now felt sure the men we had seen in red coats
were a party of the enemy. On rejoining our company,
Burroughs told me the red-coated men had quietly withdrawn
without firing a shot shortly after T had started to reconnoitre ;
and a few minutes after my return, we saw the Panjabis
standing on the bastion they had vacated.

It must have been about threec o’clock in the afternoon when
an attack was made with artillery and infantry on the British
centre; but the enemy retired after Brigadier Little, with
some guns, supported by a squadron of the 9th Lancers,
had given them a few rounds. About half-past four, after
the artillery and cavalry had been sent back to the Martinitre,
a serious attempt was made to turn the British left, and get
at the long strings of camels and carts still streaming in
under the care of Brovet-Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart’s rear-
guard, which did not all reach the Dilkusha until the
?.fternoon of the next day, November 15. The rebels
advanced in great strength, with several guns in support,
towards the bridge over the canal on the road from the’
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Dilkusha into the city. They were opposed by three com-
panies with headquarters of the 98rd, under Lieutenant-
Colonel Leith Hay, commanding the regiment. Half of
them extended in skirmishing order behind a mud bank
facing the bridge, supported by the fire of some of Peel’s
24-pounders, Bourchier's Field Battery, and Remmington’s
troop of Horse Artillery, a fire which pressed the enemy
back ; whilst, by an advance of the 53rd Foot and 4th
Panjabis, ordered by Brigadier Iope, a lodgment was effected.
in a suburb of the city on the other side of the canal. About
seven p.m., when it was getting dark, and the flashes from the
guns and the musketry fire and the bursting of the shells
from both sides began to have a pyrotechnic effect, the Chief,
with a number of his staff, rode up close opposite to Banks’
bungalow, in full view and within short range of the enemy,
and ordered a company and a half from Colonel Leith Hay’s
party to try and rush that building. After the discharge of a
final salvo from our heavy guns, the party led by Leith Hay
rushed up to the edge of the canal, only to find, however, that
the water was too deep therc to allow the men to ford it, so
the Light Company was ordered to lie down behind the canal
bank, and Colonel Leith Hay directed to retire with the rest
of the party that liad been defending the bridge to the
Martini¢re compound, for night was now closing in.

During the operations that cvening the force lost two
promising young ofticers, Lieutenant A. O. Mayne, Bengal
Artillery, a Deputy - Assistant - Quartermaster - General, and
Captain G. Wheateroft, of the 6th Dragoon Guards—the
Carabineers—who was doing duty with the Military Train.
In the marchings and counter-marchings of the various
companies of the 93rd that cvening, my company, under
Burroughs, was moving to our left flank, a little behind
a halted troop of the Military Train, under Wheateroft's
command, exposed to a fairly brisk fire of round shot and
an occasional shell. As a rule, the Sepoys’ shells exploded
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badly, either too high up in the air or on the ground; but we
noticed, owing to the glare of its explosion in the dark, that
one seemed to explode quite close over the heads of ‘the
Dumpies,” and we all feared it must have done great execu-
tion amongst the troop. We learnt next day, however, that
neither a man nor a horse was touched except poor Wheat-
croft, whose chest was torn open by the carcass of the shell.
He had messed with some of us for some days before his
death, and always seemedgto be in a very melancholy mood.
He was much liked.

The 93rd was broken up during the night of November 14,
and throughout the 15th, into numnerous detached parties
holding various advanced posts. My own company went on
outpost duty late in the evening, after all the enemy’s attacks
had been repulsed, occupying some high ground on the left of
the British position within the Dilkusha Park, with two guns
of Remmington’s troop, Bengal Horse Artillery, under Lieu-
tenant G. B. Traill, a relative of Burroughs, and a particularly
nice young fellow, and a troop of the Military Train, the
whole under the command of Captain Burroughs. We lay
down to sleep in the open, with our arms by our side, feeling
very secure against surprise behind our double line of vedettes
and sentries. As the nights were now decidedly cold, we
were assured by our Bengal Artillery friends—we were
altogether a party of six officers—that there was no chance
of the natives attacking us before sunrise, as they were all
exactly like so many flies in the cold weather, and hated to
move after dark, an assertion the truth of which we ourselves
soon realized after a few weeks’ campaigning against them.

I must here record how particularly fortunate the relieving
force under Sir Colin was in the matter of weather. From the
night of the 18th, when we bivouacked, after storing our tents
in the Alambagh, before our first flank march, until the 25th,
when we again pitched tents there, not a drop of rain fell ; and
although the sun was hot by day, there was always a pleasant,
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cool breeze, and we had bright starlight nights, with no moon,
but very cold. My company spent the whole of November 15
on this outpost duty, and we greatly benefited by and enjoyed
the rest after the fatigues of the previous day. The officers
likewise much appreciated what to us infantry—condemned to
the by no means delicately-cooked commissariat rations we were
now allowed to purchase — were considered great delicacies,
spiced beef, white bread, and hard-boiled eggs, which our
artillery friends were able to produce from their tumbrils,
and insisted in the most hospitable manner upon our sharing
with them.

During the day the only excitement our picket had was a
single combat between one of the Bengal Artillery gunners
and a Ghazi, or Mulhammadan fanatic. The gunner wandered
down about half-past six or seven in the morning, fortunately
with his sword on, towards the edge of the wood above which
we were posted, outside our sentries, but inside the line of
vedettes of the Military Train. The grass was very high,
and be did not observe a native, armed only with a talwar,
very scantily attired, and with a loose cloth or sort of blanket
thrown over one shoulder, approach him stealthily from the
wood. Several of the officers, including myself, observed the
man emerge from the wood, and shouted to the gunner to
‘Look out.” The gunner, a big Irishman, drew his sword,
and waited for the Ghazi to advance, which he did, flourishing
his talwar over his head with one hand, and swinging his
blanket round and round with the other. Mr. Traill said
that the guuner would be quite a match for the Ghazi,
g0 it was agreed that they should be allowed to fight it
out. The wary old gunner never attempted at first to strike
or thrust, but contented himself with parrying the blows
aimed at him by the Ghazi, at the same time dodging the
blanket. After fully ten minutes of this kind of fencing, the
gunner found his opportunity, and, with a sharp turn of thé
wrist, drove his sword up to the hilt through his opponent's
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body. The audience now consisted of all the men of our
picket, who applauded this coup, and cheered the artilleryman.
The native, however, to our surprise, showed no signs of
dropping, but still continued to dance round our man ; then
one of the vedettes of the ‘ Dumpies ’ rode up, and endeavoured
to get his untrained horse alongside of the Ghazi, although we
shouted to him to leave them to fight it out. I don’t think he
could have heard us, for although a bad rider, as all the
‘ Dumpies’ were, he perstered in his efforts to make his
horse face the Ghazi’s blanket, and managed at last to get
one blow at the Ghazi’s head, which knocked the already
mortally wounded man down, all of us on the hill shouting
‘Fair play! The gunner, finding his adversary could not
rise again, owing to the fearful wound he had himself dealt
him—a wound in the abdomen which had, in fact, disem-
bowelled the man—possessed himsclf of the talwar as a
trophy, and, leaving him lying there, rejoined us on the
knoll. That evening about five o’clock another gununer had
gone down to look at the body of the Ghazi, and to our
astonishment came back and reported that the man was alive
and quite sensible. Traill, Burroughs, and I went down to
see him, and, although he had lain there in a hot sun in that
awful condition all day, he answered—in a whisper, to be sure
—a number of questions Traill put to him in Hindustani,
telling us, among other things, that he had come out to kill a
Feringi, and so win Paradise. 'When we returned to the
picket, Traill ordered the gunner with whom he had fought
to go down and put a bullet through his head, and so put him
out of pain. I do not think any European could possibly
have lived thus for nearly ten hours actually disembowelled,
certainly he could not have retained his senses; but the
natives of Hindustan, of all races and creeds, will recover
from broken bones and frightful wounds where the European
would die ; they, again, succumbing to cholera and fevers
where the white man recovers.
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During the 15th Sir Colin made his final arrangements for
a second flank march, which was to take us into Lucknow.
Owing to the frequent attacks made upon Lieutenant-Colonel
Ewart’s rear guard during the whole of the 14th—attacks
which were always repulsed by the steady fire of Blunt’s
Bengal and Crawford’s Royal Artillery, aided by the infantry
in support—the whole of the baggage, ete., did not reach the
Dilkusha until the afternoon of the 15th. Our regimental
Quartermaster, John Joiner, a grijm, gaunt, obstinate ‘ Free-
Kirk * Scotchman of exemplary conduet, who had risen from
the ranks, did very fair execution, we afterwards heard, with
his band of Pioneers, and the officers’ servants in charge of
their masters’ baggage-camels, amongst the militant villagers
and stray Sepoys who hung on the flanks of the baggage
column, or were found in the villages through which it had to
pass, not leaving a living male rebel behind them, it was said;
and a8 he continued to pnrsue the same tactics throughout
the Mutiny campaigns, whenever we were in the midst of an
armed and hostile population, we dubbed him ¢Jy Jy, the
Avenger,” from his Lowland Scotch pronunciation of the
initials of his own name.

The Dilkusha had been occupied as a hospital for our sick
and wounded on the evening of the 14th, and during the 15th
a rough shelter trench was thrown up all round it, of sufficient
extent to enclose the ground necessary to contain the ordnance
park and stores, all the baggage and the commissuriat stores,
and a garrison to defend it when we continued our advance
on the Residency. That garrison consisted of five field-guns,
a squadron of the 9th Lancers, the Military Train, a squadron
of Panjab cavalry, and the 8th Foot, together with all the
officers’ soldier-servants in charge of their baggage, and men
of the regimental Quartermaster’s department, such as the
Pioneers, ete., of the different regiments, under their respective
Quartermasters, the whole being under the command of
Brigadier Little, of the 9th Lancers.
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The enemy were by no means idle during the 15th, for
about noon a strong force of infantry, with some Horse Artillery
guns, crossed the canal on the British right, and attacked the
pickets there; they also pounded away with a 12-pounder
howitzer from the other side of the Gumti, in the direction of
the Martiniére; but those who crossed the canal were soon
driven back by the fire of the Madras Native Horse Artillery,
and no further demonstrations were made by them that day.

The point from which this noonday attack had been
delivered being on the lin® of Sir Colin’s intended advance
next morning, he proceeded to draw the enemy’s attention to
the extreme left of our line, by heading a strong reconnais-
sance himself in that direetion, and I think that he himself
and the staff who accompanied him donned their cocked-hats
for the occasion, more particularly to attract the enemy’s
attention ; at least, we were told so afterwards. Late in the
afternoon Sir Colin massed nearly all the guns not on picket
at that point, and ordered a fire from the mortars to be kept
up from the same spot all night. Further to delude the
rebels, still later in the afternoon the pickels on the right
were all drawn in, and strict silence enjoined to be maintained
all along the British right. Before it was dark, Sir Colin
signalled to Sir James Outram at the Residency, from the
semaphore he had erected on the highest point of the central
tower of the Martini¢re College, where he had fixed his head-
quarters, that he would advance early the next morning.

Soon after dark Burroughs’ picket was relieved by some of
Greathed’s brigade, and we rejoined the 98rd regimental
headquarters under the trees close to the Martinitre, where we
found the whole regiment reassembled and bivouacked for the
night. On joining headquarters, we were warned that any
necessary conversation was to be carried on in a whisper, and
that we were all to lake every precaution against the arms of
officers and men making any jingle or clatter. As the company
officers of Highland regiments had not then been deprived of
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the leather steel-mounted scabbards for their claymores, very
slight precautions sufficed me to prevent my scabbard clatter-
ing ; but since a steel scabbard was substituted—on the plea
of superior durability, but really as an inroad upon that bug-
bear of the War Office, distinctive dress or equipment in the
army—nothing short of wrapping an infantry officer’s scabbard
up in bandages will prevent its clattering now !
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CHAPTER VIIL
~
THE FLANK MARCH TO THE SIKANDARBAGH.

Tur whole force was under arms before daylight on the
morning of the 16th, and after the companies were inspected
and the ammunition pouches filled up to their complete sixty
rounds, the men breakfasted on boiled beef, commmissariat
biscuit and tea, without, of course, cither sugar or milk. The
beet, which had been boiled in salt to mnake it keep, had been
cooked during the night at the Dilkusha by the men’s native
cooks, and cach non-commissioned oficer and man was served
out three pounds of it and a dozen commissariat biscuits.
The native cooks also brought some fuel and their great copper
boilers to cook the tea for the men where we had bivouacked.
I use the word ‘cook’ advisedly, for the men’s tea was
always either boiled or stewed in thesc coppers, processes not
entively unknown to that sometimes necessary evil, ¢ the good
plain cook’ of these climes. For myself, and the majority of
the officers of the force, I fancy, no provision had been made,
as our own native servants, with our baggage, were supposed
to bring us something to eat from the Dilkusha too ; but even
a fighting man amongst the natives hates to come out of his
coverings before sunrise, and as it was nobody’s business to
kick our non-combatant native servants up, naturally they did
not put in an appearance. I therefore felt much indebted to
the regimental sergeant-major, Donald Murray—a magnificent
specimen of a Highlander—for a tin cup—¢ tots’ we called
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them—of that warm but weird beverage which the men called
tea, with some commissariat biscuit which he insisted on my
taking, when he found out I had no breakfast provided for
me. Poor fellow! he was killed just inside the main gateway
of the Sikandarbagh a few hours afterwards.

After we had made the best meal we could, Sir Colin himself
went round the whole of the infantry force, and called all the
officers of each corps to the front. In low and earnest tones
he directed us to see that the men,used their rifles as little as
possible after we had obtained a foothold on any position,
owing to the danger of shooting friends as well as foes in
confined situations, but to impress upon the men that they
must trust to, and make good use of, the bayonet ; further,
that with the foe then confronting us, there could be no
question of giving quarter. Sir Colin’s exact words, almost,
were then repeated by us to the men of our respective com-
panies.

The advance-guard moved off, I should say, about eight
a.m., every precaution having been laken to prevent the sieel
seabbards of the Furopean artillery and ecavalry, and the
harness of the artillery, from muaking more noise than was
unavoidable.

The staff wore foruge-caps and blue coats; the European
artillery and cavalry their forage-caps, with white muslin
turbans wound over them, and their cloth elothing; all the
English infantry pith helmets and dust-coloured cotton
clothing, I think, The 98rd wore the regimenta] Highland
dress and feather honnets, with the brown China Expedition
coat, and both officers and men their rolled great-coats,
haversacks, and water-hottles.

After deducting, therefore, the garrisons left at the Alam-
bagh and the Dilkusha, we advanced for the relief of the
Residency with not more than 8,000 bayonets, composed of
the 98rd Highlanders, some 900 strong, a wing of the 58¢d
Foot, two wealk Panjabi regiments, some 250 to 800 each of
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the 23rd Royal Welsh Fusiliers and 82nd Foot, and the two
battalions made up of detachments of the different regiments
ghut up in the Residency.

Early on the morning of the 16th the heavy guns and all
the advanced pickets on the canal were quietly withdrawn,
and Greathed’s weak brigade, with the exception of the 8th
Foot left at the Dilkusha, with Bourchier’s battery, were
directed to guard our left flank nuntil noon, and then to follow
our column as a rear-guardy,

The advance-guard, conducted by Lieutenant Roberts* of
the Bengal Artillery, as a Deputy-Assistant-Quartermaster-
General, who had to rely on a volunteer native guide,
consisted of Blunt’s troop of Bengal Horse Artillery,
Lieutenant Hugh Gough's squadron of Ilodson’s Horse,
and a company of the 53rd I'oot.t The Commander-in-
Chief, with his staff, and the gallant Kavanagh beside him—
who had on November 10. disguised as a native swashbuckler,
made his way from the Residency through the enemy’s lines
to the Alambagh, bearing important information from Sir
James Outram in a letter to Sir Colin Campbell — rode
immediately behind the advance-guard, and was closely
followed by DBrigadier Adrian Hope’s brigade, the 93rd
Highlanders leading; then Russell’s brigade; then the
ammunition and engineers’ park; the rear being lrought
up at noon by what was left of Greathed’s brigade.

Our foree crossed the dry hed of the canal, running south-
east, very shortly after leaving the grounds of the Martinitre,
whence we had moved off from our right; then, bearing
north-east, and keeping to the east of the village of Jia Mau,
we struck the banks of the Gumti about a mile before turning
sharp to our left after various turnings and twistings through
narrow roads, and then found ourselves in the narrow lane,

% Now Ficld Marshal Lord Roberts of Kandahar, K.I.. ete., cte.
T Lord Loberts in a footnote ab p. 820, vol. i., of his book, states ¢ that
the wing of the 53rd Foot’ were on the advance-guard ; this is n mistake.
—9
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with high banks on both sides, running parallel with the
Sikandarbagh.

Although, as previously described at p. 58, the canal
opposite Banks’ house had so much water in it on the
evening of November 14 as to prevent some of the 98rd,
under Licutenant-Colonel Leith Hay, from crossing it at
that point, yet neither at the relief, nor afterwards at the
capture of Lucknow in Mareh, 1858, was there any water
in its bed further to the north-gast of Banks’ house than
the bridge across it on the road leading from the Martiniére—
that is to say, it was dry for more than a mile above the
junction of its bed with the river Gumti.

After reaching the river and turning to our left, we had the
stream on our right for about 650 yards; thence we had to
wind our way by a narrow road through thickly-wooded
enclosures till, at a point about a mile after passing the
village of Jin Mau, on the right bank of the Gumti, the
advance-gnard had to make a sharp turn to its left on to a
narrow road. This road, after about a quarter of a mile,
turned again sharp to the left, running between high banks,
with the low-roofed, thatched mud-houses of a small native
hamlet on cither hand, parallel with the Sikandarbagh, and
distant from the turn into the lane about another quarter of a
mile. The lane for the last 130 yards was not more than 150
yards from the Sikandarbagh (see¢ plan). The rebels had
been so thoroughly deceived Ly Sir Colin’s various ruses-de-
guerre of the previous day that no suspicion of our under-
taking this second flank march had occurred to them, and no
opposition was encountered until the second sharp turn to the
left into the narrow road leading through this village, within
easy range of the musketry of the Sikandarbagh. Then &
tremendous fire was opened on the head of the column,
consisting of Blunt’'s troop of Horse Artillery, Gough'’s
squadron of Hodson’s Horse, and the company of the 53rd
Foot. The 53rd men gallantly struggled to drive the enemy
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out of the enclosures in the village, but were being over-
whelmed with the fire. Gough’s squadron became wedged
in by the infantry hurrying on to reinforce the company
of the 58rd, and, according to Sir Hugh Gough’s account
of the incident in the November number of the Pall Mall
Magazine for 1896, the squadron found they *could neither
advance nor retire; for, in the first place, any further
progress was impossible by abattis and barricades in front ;
and, in the second, the nggrow lane was speedily blocked by
infantry and artillery hurrying up to the scene of action. . . .
Exit there was none, and we had to dispose of ourselves as
best we could.” For a short time there was great confusion
amongst the advance-guard, and the roadway in the village
was completely blocked. Gradually the 58rd men, however,
commenced to get the better of the rebel infantry firing from
the mud huts and enclosures on our right, and to drive them
to take shelter within the walls of the Sikandarbagh. This
allowed those infantry of the advance still jammed in the
lane to get out of the way of Blunt’s troop, which he then led
with splendid determination up the steep bank on the right,
to get clear of the lanc and bring his guns into action. Of
this I am certain, that no commander of any troop of Horse
Artillery of any other country in the world would, under any
circumstances, have even attempted to negotiate such a bank
as Blunt surmounted that forenoon, landing them on to an
open space between the Sikandarbagh and another great
building loopholed for musketry, a caravansary opposite the
Sikandarbagh, whence he coolly opened fire to his right,
left, and front, in reply to a terrific fire which the appearance of
his troop had brought down on him from these three directions.

As soon as the guns of the advance-guard were out of the
way, Lieutenant-Colonel Leith Hay was enabled to comply
vgith the order he had received to move to the front as
quickly as possible with the right wing of the 93rd. The
five companies composing it, the Grenadiers, and Nos. 1, 2, 8,
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and 4, now moved on under Leith Hay’s command. When
clear of the lane, they emerged into the open space between
the Sikandarbagh and the loopholed Sarai above alluded to,
and deployed into line under a biting musketry fire. To
obtain some shelter from this, the right wing was ordered
to move under cover of a low mud wall some seventy or
eighty yards from the southern face of the Sikandarbagh.
By all accounts, the right .wing does not seem to have
remained very long under sheltey. but to have stormed the
Sarai, which was not very seriously defended, and occupied it.

Some companies of the 58rd, and Nos. 2 and 8 Companies
of the 98rd, under Captains Cornwall and Stewart,* supported
by two of Blunt's guns, pushed forward across the plain, after
the occupation of the Sarai, towards a large fortified building
to their left, built in the form of a cross, called ‘The
Barracks,” at about half a mile almost due south from the
Sikandarbagh.  The only approuch to this building was
defended by two well-served guns, as well as by a steady and
close fire of musketry, from which the two companies suffered
considerably, several of the officers being wounded, and many
men killed and wounded during the advance ; but Stewart led
straight on the guns, and captured them with a rush, the
enemy bolting and leaving the two companies in possession of
this very important post. Stewart was most justly awarded
the Victoria Cross for this exploit, but in a manner which the
framers of the Royal Warrant instituting that decoration
never conteinplated, of which more anon. The two companies
of the 98rd who thus effected a lodgment in the barracks
were on the left of the line of the 58rd and 98rd, which had
advanced across the plain with two of Blunt’s guns, and the
58rd men were now extended in skirmishing order on their
right, thus joining this attack to that upon the Sikandarbagh,
which all this timne was being fiercely pressed. ,

To return now to the Sikandarbagh. When Lieutenant-

* Captuin W. G. Drummond Stewart, younger, of Murthly, Perthshire.
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Colonel Leith Hay was ordered forward with the right wing
of the 98rd, Major and Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel J. A. Ewart
was left in command of the left wing, to which my company,
No. 6, under Captain ¥. W. Burroughs,* belonged. No. 5
Company, or, rather, half of it, was therefore in front of us in
the column in the lane, and as the Captain who commanded
No. 5 had been left behind with a Subaltern and fifty men at
Portsmouth when the regiment sailed thence on June 16
preceding, the half-compgny was under Lieutenant Richard
Cooper. As each company of the left wing emerged from the
village in fours, and got clear of the mud huts, we were
wheeled at the double into column of sections—ua little parade
maneuvre which served to distract everyone’s attention, I
think, from the fact that, as we did thus emerge from the
friendly shelter of those mud walls, we stepped into a fire of
musketry which, to look at the hail of bullets as they splashed
up the dust in the road, made me, I remember, wonder for a
second how it was possible that even a rabbit could live in it.
As we were immediately again wheeled at the double to our
right, which brought us into line facing the east side of the
Sikandarbagh (sec plan, p. 84), we saw whence the fire was
proceeding, and my company were ordered to lic down on
our faces on a sloping bank, which afforded fair cover from
the feu d’enfer directed on us at, perhaps, 150 yards, from the
loopholed walle and parapets of that building. Cooper, with
No. 5, had been wheeled into line to his right in front of
No. 6, but Nos. 7, 8, and the Light Company were marched
straight on, after being successively wheeled from fours into
column of sections as each company cleared the village, but
were not wheeled into line to their right facing the Sikandar-
bagh, until the rear section of the Light Company had cleared
the left of No. 5, then lying down along a bank in line, as we
of No. 6 Company were. The 4th Panjabis, however, who

* Now Lieutenant-General Frederick William Traill Burroughs, C.B.,
of Rousay, Orkney, Colonel of the Royal Warwickshire Regiment.
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were immediately in rear of the 98rd, wheeled round in fours
as they disentangled themselves from the village, and
marching behind No. 6 Company of the 93rd, prolonged the
British line opposite the east face of the Sikandarbagh to
the right (sec plan). Thus, before any further advance was
made, we were lying down in line with the 4th Panjabis
on the right, then Nos. 6, 5, Light Company, 8 and 7
(to enumerate the order from right to left), and before we
were ordered to storm, this line wgs prolonged to the left by
No. 1 and the Grenadier Company (see plan, p. 84). The
4th Panjabis and No. 6 Company alone occupied the bank
facing the east face of the Sikandarbagh, the ground
occupied by No. 5 trending back from this position, and all
the other companies of the 93rd, as will be seen from my plan,
being even further back from the building. Each company of
the 938rd, as it took up its position, opened fire, and in the case
of No. 6, I can answer for it that only the hest shots were
directed to do so, as there was nothing to fire at except the
puffs of smoke from the loopholes and the tops of the bastions.

In response to an appeal for help from the Commander-
in-Chief, the men of the Light Company 93rd, with the
personal example and encouragement of their officers, Captain
J. Dalzell* and Licutenants E. H. D. Macpherson,! of Cluny,
and A. C. Nightingale,; assisted to drag up two of Travers’
18-pounder guns to the top of the bank on the right, where
the native sappers had cut down a part of it to allow of these
guns being placed in position for breaching the wall, against
which it was found that Blunt’s light guns were useless.
Travers’ two guns§ were thus placed in position on the left of

* Killed inside the Sikandarbagh shortly afterwards.

T Now Colonel Ewen H. ID. Macpherson, of Cluny Castle, Chief of his
clan.

1 Now Colonel Arthur C. Nightingale. .

§ Lord Roberts, at p. 824, vol. i., of his work, speaks of one 18-poundex
and a howitzer ; but as the howitzers were with Captain Peel in a different
part of the field, Lord Roberts must be mistaken
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No. 5 Company and the right of the Light Company 938rd
Highlanders. Up to this moment of the fight, Blunt’s troop
had suffered a loss of 14 Europeans and 6 gun lascars,
killed and wounded, and Blunt’s charger and 20 troop-
horses; Travers’ battery had lost Captain IIardy, Royal
Artillery, killed, and Lieutenant W. G. Milman wounded.

Nos. 2 and 8 Companies of the 93rd having captured the
Barracks as above described, remained there to garrison that
post, and of the remaining¢hree companies of the right wing,
under Lieutenant-Colonel Hay’s immediate command, the
Grenadiers and No. 1 had come, in a manner, under Brevet-
Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart’s command, for one company
having been found sufficient to hold the Sarai, these two
companies had been sent to prolong the 93rd line to the left
of No. 8, leaving No. 4 Company only with Colonel Hay and
the regimental headquarters, with whom were the colours,
the Adjutant, the sergeant-major, and Captain Lumsden, the
interpreter, some inside and some outside the gate of the
Sarai, exactly opposite the main and only gateway into the
Sikandarbagh, on the south side of that enclosure and not
near the breach which was made by Travers’ guus.

As some narratives assert that Captain Lnumsden entered at
‘ the breach,’ others at ‘« breach,” and some accounts assert
that the sergeant-major also entered at ¢ the breach,” it is
important to notice on my plan the positions which they
respectively should hace oceupied, and as 1 always understood,
and it was generally agreed at the time, that they did occupy,
just before the assault was delivered, namely, at tho elbow of
the officer commanding the regiment, their recognised official
position, which neither the serjeant-major nor the interpreter
was likely to desert, any more than I or any other company
oflicer would have thought of detaching ourselves from our
own companies to seek adventures elsewhere. G Glancing at
my plan, the reader will see that tho line of the ith Panjabis
extended along the edge of the village to the right of my
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company, No. 6 of the 93rd, and rather overlapped the north-
east bastion of the Sikandarbagh. No. 6 extended from
about opposite the centre of the east face of the enclosure, to
quite the south-east bastion ; then came No. 5 Company, with
Cooper in command, to the left of No. 6 and opposite that
bastion ; then Travers’ two 18-pounders; then the Light
Company, and Nos. 8 and 7 a little in rear of Blunt’s guns;
then No. 1 and the Grenadier .Company. To the left, again, of
the Grenadier Company 93rd camp the headquarters and four
companies of the 53rd oot ; then Major Barnston’s battalion
of detachments of the 84th and 90th Foot and Madras
Fusiliers, which had all been moved up as quickly as they
could be got clear of the village, thus bringing Major
Barnston’s battalion and the 53rd Foot past the corner of
the east face, and out of sight of the breach altogeiher, and
nearer to the entrance gateway on the south side.

I have now attempted to describe in minute detail how the
main body of our little forece was distributed for the attack on
the Sikandarbagh, which it is most important that anyone
desirous of carctnlly sifting the conflicting evidence published
up to this date should carefully note, with the assistance of
the rough plan on p. 84. All who have hitherto pub-
lished accounts of the capture of the Sikandarbagh, whether
as actors in, or spectators of, that struggle, admit that they
have quoted from memory, after varying periods of time have
elapsed, and they each and all had passed through various
other exciting scenes, or painful sick-bed experiences, before
they committed their recollections to writing. From the
writer in the October number of Dlackwood's Magazine for
1858, believed to have been a stuff officer, who, on November 16,
1857, looked on ut the storming of the Sikandarbagh, but lost
an arm in the evening of that day, and was eventually invalided
to England; to Colonel Malleson, who admittedly compilhed
his account from information derived from the article in
Blacl:u ood above alluded to, or obtained it from other spectators
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or actors in the drama, who had to rely on the retentive powers
of their memories years after, no one has hitherto produced
an account written down the day after the event, and carefully
elaborated during a stay of several days afterwards on the spot
itself, by a participant in the fight and an eye-witness of its
details. The distribution of the companies of the 93rd High-
landers as I have given it above can be confirmed, partly by
reference to the despatches of the Commander-in-Chief, and
partly by the regimental gnanuseript records. I venture to
entertain a hope that, after Colonel Malleson has perused this
narrative, he will revise both his text and footnole at p. 129 of
the fourth volume of his ¢ History of the Indian Mutiny.’
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CHAPTER ’VIII.
THE TRUE STORY OF THE STORMING OF THE SIKANDARBAGH.

AT the commencement of this chapter I would again draw the
reader’s particular attention to the rough plan on p. 84,
being a rough plan of the Sikandarbagh (not drawn to scale)
made by me on November 19, 1857, after I took up my quarters
there with my company on guard over the Commander-in-
Chief, and remained till the night of November 22, when the
relieving force was withdrawn. The distribution of the attack-
ing force, as I have detailed it in the previous chapter, was
filled in by me from the information I picked up during the
four nights and days I spent on the spot, and owes nothing
to any tardy reference to memory, any more than my de-
scription of the assault itself, some notes for which I made
on the 17th, when on an outlying picket all day, but the
greater portion of which I wrote during the 19th, 20th, and
21st, the time hanging heavy on my hands. I transcribed
what I had written on scraps of paper, and the parchment of
Sepoy drumheads, to my diary itself, when we obtained access
to our light baggage again, at the Martini¢re, on November 23.
Facing the next page I give an engraving of the Sikandar-
bagh, from a photograph by Messrs. Bourne and Shepherd, of
Calcutta, taken about the year 1863, some six years after the
assault. It includes the gateway, showing the only towers there
ever were within the enclosure, and a view of the curtain wall,
facing nearly due south, between the gateway and the south-
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east bastion. It shows sufficient of the contour of the bastion
to demonstrate t_hat it was neither ‘round’ nor ¢circular,’
being, in point of fact, pentagonal. It was through the breach
driven by Travers’ guns, on the opposite side of this bastion
marked ‘A’ on my rough plan, that Burroughs, Ewart,
Cooper and myself entered with the head of the storming-
party. The Sikandarbagh was a large enclosure, about 150
yards -square, flanked at the four corners by pentagonal
bastions* (sce plan and Lugrar ing). These bastions were
occupied by two or three little rooms, each ¢giving,’ by
separate doors, on to the broad walk which ran along the wall
all round the inside of the enclosure, and having flat roofs,
with their crenulated masonry parapets heightened, strength-
ened and loopholed with sand-bugs. Owing, probably, to the
greater thickness of the walls than those of the curtains, none
of the walls of these bastions were loopholed, but the inter-
mediate walls (or curtains), joining one bastion to another,
and also the walls of the back court on the north face, were
all loopholed at frequent intervals and at about 4! to 5 feet
from the ground. As will also be noticed from the engraving,
the outline of the roofs of these bastions was broken by small
ornamental domes and small duimmny minarets, but no ‘ towers,’
as described by the writer in Bluclwood, and by Colonel Mal-
leson at p. 180 of the fourth volume of his ‘History of the
Indian Mutiny.” The passage runs thus: ¢ The enclosure in
which these fourteen men found thewselves was 150 yards
square, with towers at the anyles, and in the centre of the

eastern face a building consisting of @ rovin opening out into a ;.

courtyard behind it, the gruss growing all ocer the ground of i

the enclosure sufjiciently high to conceal the enemy from view.
I challenge all the statements I have given above in italics

i

|

!
H

as absolutely incorrect. The engraving which faces this page, ,!

whxch includes the bastion through which the storming-party . . [

* Not *circular,’ as described by Lord Roberts at p. 823 of the first
volume of his work.
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entered, sufficiently disproves the existence of ‘ towers at the
angles.’* My plan, roughly sketched on November 19, 1857,
shows no building with courtyard behind it on the castern face,
but a one-storied building with several rooms overlooking,
none ‘ opening out into,’ a courtyard on the northern face. As
to there having been tall grass anywhere within the enclosure
of the Sikandarbagh, the suggestion is manifestly untenable
when one comes to understand that, not only over the whole
of the main enclosure, but also in Jhe court which jutted out
from the north face, the entire surface of the open ground
was thickly studded with the cooking-places of the high-caste
Hindus (of whom the principal part of the garrison was com-
posed), where they cooked their daily meals, rendering the
existence of any such grass necessarily impossible. The only
towers which over existed in the Sikandarbagh were the
three towers at the gateway represented in my engraving.
One was a square tower, giving access from the garden by a
narrow stone staircase to the flat roof of the gateway only,
the parapets of which were loopholed and strengthened with
sand-bags in the same manner as the roofs of the bastions.
The two other domed towers—one on each side, and jutting
outwards beyond the gateway—allowed of a flanking musketry-
fire along the front curtain walls to the south-east and south-
west bastions, east and west of the gate, and enclosed stair-
cases leading to the galleries inside the gateway. The gateway

* I have quite recently come upon a lithograph of the Sikandarbagh,
published on Septeiuber 1, 1860, by Day and Son, Gate Stre:t, Lincoln's
Inn Fields, with other views in Lucknow, from drawings by Lieutenant-
Colonel D. 8. Dodgson,! Assistant Adjutant-General. This lithograph
shows four towers at the gateway where there were never more than three,
as represcnted inmy engraving ; also asort of tower of Hindu architectural
design—impossible upon a Muhammadan strueture—on cach bastion.
Perhaps Colonel Malleson may have derived his idea of the * towers at the
angles’ from this peculiarly inaccurate repiesentation of the enclosure on
the day of our assault.

The late General Sir David Scott Dodgson, K.C.B., Bengal Infantry.
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iteelf, flanked by these round towers, the doors and windows
of which were then, of course, all built up and loopholed, was
of some depth, and, right and left as you entered, had first a
raised platform used by the men on guard about 2} feet above
the roadway, and above that, also on each side, at about 18
to 20 feet from the roadway, a gallery to which access was
obtained by short staircases from each of the raised platforms
by the round towers. These galleries, like the platforms
below, were quite open to, and overlooked, the entrance road-
way which passed between them. The gateway itself was
externally protected from artillery fire by an angular traverse
of earth and brickwork, with a ditch outside some 8 to 10 fect
deep and 12 feet wide at top, leaving only narrow openings,
right and left, for access to the gate. In the centre of the
enclosure there was a small pavilion, with a veranda running
round, raised one or two steps over the broad walk which ran
round it; and on the north (not the east fuce, as Malleson
has it), directly opposite the entrance gateway, was a one-
storied building, which overlooked the whole garden, the
windows of which, as throughout the building, were not
glazed, but only closed with stout Venetian shutters (exactly
like what the French call persicnne), to shut out the sun.
All the windows opened down to the floor (see engraving of
gateway), and from them Captain Lumsden, the interpreter,
and Captain Dalzell, commanding the Light Company, were
mortally wounded, and Lieutenant Welch, then musketry-
instruetor of the regiment, received a bullet in his body,
besides a great many of the 98rd men killed and wounded.
Four walks ran from that round the pavilion in the centre of
the garden to the broader walk which ran along the wall
round the inside of the enclosure (see plan).  The four corners
of the centre of the enclosure or garden, hetween the walks,
were occupied by bushes and trees, some of them in huge tubs,
and in peaceful times no doubt the spaces hetween had been
filled in with flowers in pots, but there was no long grass or
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jungle such as I read of at p. 180, vol. iv., of Malleson’s
History.

At the back of the one-storied building on the north face
there was an oblong enclosure with walls of the same height
—some 20 feet—as those which 1 have called the ‘ curtains,’
joining the four bastions to each other, and enclosing the
whole place. From this enclosure on the north face there
was no cxit to the exterior of the Sikandarbagh—meaning
¢ Alexander’s Garden,’ by the way—and the only entrances to
it from the main enclosure were by narrow doors situated east
and west of the one-storied building, which commanded this
backyard from its back-windows. No door, however, opened
into this yard from the building itself, which could only be
entered from the main enclosure or ¢ garden.” In several
narratives I have read, this large back courtyard, which
really jutted out quite outside the rest of the enclosure,
is alluded to as an * inner court.’

According to Sir Colin's despatches, the attack on the
Sikandarbagly had been proceeding about an hour and a
half before Truvers’ two 18-pounders succeeded in miaking
the small breach they did; and the Commander-in-Chief,
who remained mounted and entirely exposed just behind
these two guns, must have been in great danger all that
time ; a bullet which passed through the body of one of the
gunners, killing him on the spot, actually did hit Sir Colin on
the thigh, but fortunately only caused a severe contusion.
Burroughs, my Captain, would stand up close to the edge
of the bank, Lehind which, as it had a gentle slope, the
rest of No. 6 Company obtained some shelter ; but he drew a
continuous fire by that mancwcuvre, not only on himself, but
on all in his necighbourhood, for as I was kneeling a little to
his right rear, I was in a position to judge, and kept on telling
him so. As I afterwards discovered, Burroughs had made up
his mind to be first in, when we began to see that the breach
was being driven through that face of the south-east bastion
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(se¢ plan) exactly opposite where we were. As he persisted
in standing up, and I continued to remonstrate, he waxed
very short-tempered, and so did 1.

The bank which sheltered the company rose with a gentle
slope to about 8} or 4 feet from the level of the ground, the
side next the Sikandarbagh being faced, I think, with sun-
dried bricks; at any rate, one had to jump down about that
height on to the level when we started. When Burroughs
and I saw the hole at lastygetting slowly practicable, we kept
watehing Sir Colin and Coloncl Ewart, who was not far from
him, away on our left, for the signal to storm. The resistance
of this brick wall to the 18-pounder shot I attribute to the
tough nature of the plaster with which the bricks were
coated, the finest Dbuildings throughout India, when not
of stone, having their whole surface plastered over with
it, like stucco with us. This composition, however, unlike
stucco, hardens to the consistency of stone. The walls of
the Sikandarbagh were nowhere more than 2} feet thick,
yet Blunt’s 9-pounders could make no impression on them,
and Travers’ iwo 18-pounders took more than an hour to

hammer the small hole through which some of us entered,-
a fact which disposes of a theory I have seen advanced that:

there was more than one breach when the assault was given,
seeing that it is universally admitted that these were the only
two heavy guns brought to beur on the building. The spot
where the breach in the south-east bastion was driven in had
the appearance of a built-up window, but I find in some notes
to my diary, dated November 22, after I had several times
inspected the breach, that I then came to the conclusion that,
like all the similar ¢ windows’ in the outer wall of the building,
it had been a dummy one, moulded by the native builder for
architectural effect; lience none of these apparent ¢ windows’
could have been broken through with erowbars or such tools,
aly more than any other portion of the exceedingly tough
outer walle.
6
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Bir Colin Campbell, having decided that the breach was
practicable, directed a Dbugler of the 98rd to sound the
advance, and Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart waving his
sword to us, the whole British line rose to their feet with a
cheer, which Lord Roberts, who heard it, describes as ‘a
shout which must have foreshadowed defeat to the defenders
of the Sikandarbagh,’” and rushed towards the building,* but
not more than 200 men, all told, towards the Ureach ; for only
those opposite or within sight of «hat hole in the wall ran
towards it—mnamely, Nos. 6 and 5 Companies, a few Light
Company men, and some stray officers and men from the
companies of the 93rd on the left of the Light Company,
the main body of the 93rd, the 58rd, and Major Barnstow’s
detachments makinyg jfor the gateway. The breach itself was
a hole knocked in that side of the south-east bastion which
faced almost due east (sec plan), a hole not more than 3 feet
square, and some 3 to 3} feet from the ground.

Burroughs, from the position he had taken up, was very
much exposed, standing erect on the edge of our sheltering

* In the article in Blackirood's Magazwne of October, 1858, on ¢ Lord
Clyde’s Campaign in India,” we find as p. 492 the following description of
the assault: ‘ The assault wa~ then given by the 4th Punjab Ritles and
93rd, supported by the 53rd and a battalion of detachments. It was a
glorious rush. On went in generous rivalry the turban of the Sikh and
the dark plume of the Highlander. A native oficer of the Sikhs, waving
his tulwar above his head, dashed on full five yards in front of his men.
The Highlanders, determined not to be left behind, struined nerve and
limb in the race. Their ofticers led like gallant gentlemen, shaking their
broadswords in the air. Two young ensigns, springing over a low mud-
wall, gace the colours of the regiment o the breeze.” The statemont I
have put in italics is a wistake. No colours of any regiment under Sir
Colin’s command were ever uncased in any action agninst the rebels.
The Regimental colour of the 93rd next morning, November 17, at the
Shah Najaf, that of the 2nd Punjab Infantry on the same day, at the
Mess House, and that of the 1st Bengal Fusiliers, during the siege of
Lucknow in March of the following year, were uncased and used as
signal-flags by Sir Colin’s personal commands on these oceasions, Bs

hereafter to be related, and were the only instances, as far as I ever
heard of, of any colour being ¢ given to the breeze.’
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bank, a position which he had maintained for over an hour
—although both to him and to me it did not seem more than
half that time—yet miraculously escaped even a contusion
such as Sir Colin received.

When the signal was given Ly Colonel Ewart to storm,
Burroughs had only to jump down on to the level ground,
whilst I had to rise off one knce, and the rest of No. 6
Company, being all stretched ofit on their faces, took a little
longer to rise. Burroughshus got a start of at least a dozen
yards before any of No. 6 Company, and we were directly
opposite, and nearest to the breach. I myself reached the
breach immediately behind Burroughs, but rather out of
breath, partly from running, and partly from shouting, 1
suppose, and well ahead of both Ewart and Lieutenant Cooper,
of No. 5 Company. On reaching the hole, Burroughs had
bent his head, and actually succeeded in jumping in, knocking
his feather bonnet off in performing this harlequin’s feat.
Fortunately for him, as it afterwards turned out, I stopped
and picked up the bonnet, and tossed it into the hole after
him, before he had time to turn round or another man was in
the way. DPrivate Dunlay and two, or perhaps three, more
men of No. 6 Company werc pushed up after Burroughs, when
Cooper reached us, and, like the excitable Irishman he was
whenever there was a fight on, pushed everyone aside, and,
assisted by a private of hisx own company who came up with
him, serambled in, followed by his own man, there being now
Burroughs, with three or four of No. 6, and Cooper, with one
man, inside. Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart now came up, rather
out of breath, like all of us, and very eager too, and I and a
private gave him, as our C. O., a leg in, for, with the exception
of Burroughs, everyone was helped in. I followed Ewart,
being assisted by the men of my own company inside, who
gave me a hand as well as those outside, now collecting in
Some numbers, who had to follow one by one.

Some native sappers and miners with picks, and, 1 think,

6—2
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erowbars, some of whose comrades, with several of the 98rd,
had been knocked over before they reached the breach, now
arrived, and set to work to widen the breach, and to break it
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STORMING ON NOVEMBER 16, 1857, oF THE SIKANDAkBAGH (LUCKNOW).

RETERENCE.

A. The only breach. E. One-storied huilding overlouking whole
B. Bastion stormed by 4th Panjabis, cut- garden,
ting off enemy’s retreat. F. Centre pavilion with veranda.
C. Gateway stormed by main body of 03rd H. Spot oceupsed by Sir Colin and staff
and 58rd with Major Burnston’s hattahon, from November 16 to 22,

D. Scene of Ewart and Cooper's fight.

down to nearer the ground outside; but none of them nor
any other native soldier attempted to enter, and, for fhe
matter of that, they would not have been allowed to do so,
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for although we of the 98rd were most willing to help each
other, or even to stand aside and allow a senior officer to pass
in, I am perfectly certain that no one in the 93rd would that
day have stood aside for any native soldier. For it must be
remembered that until after this November 16 we were all
imbued with the greatest distrust of «ll natives, and both
officers and men of all regiments newly arrived from home,
like ourselves, had no more confidence in the P’anjabis that
forenoon than in any otheg coloured men. Consequently it
would have gone hard with any native soldier of any branch
of the service had he attempted to push before us ; he would
at least have had his head punched.

At p. 129, vol. iv., of Malleson’s ‘ History of the Indian
Mutiny,” lie writes : ¢ A Sikh of the -1th Rifles reached it first,
but he was shot dead as he jumped through. A similar fate
befell a Highlander in his track. A young officer of the 93rd,
Richard Cooper by name, outstripping the majority of his
comrades, was more fortunate. TFlying, so to speak, through
the hole, he landed unseathed. ¢ His jump into it,” wrote
the gallant Blunt,* who witnessed it, ¢ reminded me of the
headlong leap which harlequin in a pantomime makes through
a shop-window, and I thought at the time that if he was not
rushing to certain death, life would be very uncertain to those
first making entrance by that ugly blind hole.” Cooper was
almost immediately followed by Colonel Ewart, of the 98rd ;
Ewart by Captain John J. Lumsden, of the 30th Native
Infantry, but attached as interpreter to the 93rd High-
landers ; Lumsden by three privates of that regiment ; they,
again, by eight or nine men, Sikhs of the 4th Panjab Rifles
and Highlanders.’

I think it was the perusal of the above statements, recorded
a8 ‘history’ by Colonel Malleson, that finally decided me to
write this book.

As at p- 77 1 have challenged the accuracy of Colonel
¥ Now Major-General C. Harris Blunt, C.B., Bengal Artillery.
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Malleson’s description of the enclosure of the Sikandarbagh
and its buildings, so I must now flatly contladlct 5 _the.above
description of the storming of the breach. No native soldier
of any race reached the breach first, nor, to my personal
knowledge, even attempted to enter it for more than twenty
wtes after the assault was dehveled and 1 much doubt

native sappers, I did not see any natne soldlezs near the breach
at any time that morning. If, affer I got in, any 1’a.nj£;,bi did
come up, he would see it was hopeless for him to expect fo
enter with a crowd of Highlanders waiting to assist each
other in one by one; but I am quite positive that not only
did no native soldier come in by the breach until after the
gates were forced open, at any rate, and the place was
practically in our hands, but I am equally positive that
no man of the 53rd nor of Major Barnston’s batialion of
detachments did so. No one entered that breach before the
front gates were forced open except No. 6 Company, most of
No. 5, some of the Light Company, and some odd ofticers and
men of Nos. 1, 7, and 8 Companies of the 98rd Ilighlanders.
The main bodles of Nos. 1, 7, 8, and Light Companies, with
No. 4 and the regimental headquarters, made for the gateway,
not the breach, and entered by the gateway.

I have shown how Burroughs and three or four men of
No. 6 Company 93rd were inside before Cooper even reached
the hole; but the description given by Captain Blunt, of the
Bengal Horse Artillery, already quoted by me above from
Malleson’s History, of how the leading officer leapt into the
hole ‘like a harlequin,’ I find recorded, in almost the same
words, written down by me at the time in my diary, when
describing Burroughg’s performance. Moreover, Blunt’s de-
scription of what he saw the leading officer do makes it
absolutely impossible that it could have been Cooper who
did it, because Cooper was quite my height, 5 feet 11 inches
—that is, 6 feet in his shocs—whereas Burroughs is short of
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stature; and where such a leap merely knocked off Burroughs’
bonnet, either Cooper or I would have knocked out our brains
had we tried it. I do not believe that there was another
officer with the army there who could have performed the
feat, and I do not think that even Burroughs could have
done it in cold blood. Let Colonel Malleson and Major-
General Blunt, if they slill believe it possible for a man of
Cooper’s height to have leapt_into the breach, cut a hole in a
canvas screen about 3 fect square and 81 feet from the ground,
and have the sides of that opening edged with jagged bricks;
after putting on the Highland dress, including a feather
bonnet, add a rolled great-coat over the left shounlder, and,
drawing their claymores, try and jump through that hole.
I feel quite sure that after the experiment they will agree
with me that it is absolutely impossible for anyone approach-
ing Cooper’s height to have performed the feat. Although
barely 200 men altogethoer of the 98rd Highlanders made for
the breach, probably not more than half even of them entered
that way; for the progress was so slow, as I was afterwards
told by several non-commissioned officers of my company,
that even of the men of No. 6 who rcached the breach first,
some did not wait to get in there, but made their way round
to the south side, and entered with the main body through
the gateway.

There never was any question at the time of any of the
4th Panjabis having entered the breach with us at the first
rush, oxcept, apparently, in the minds of the Headquarter
Staff and Sir Colin himself, who most unquestionably mistook
the turhaned Panjabi sappers and miners, in a uniform similar
to the 4th Panjabis, for men of that regiment, because these
sappers raced with us to the breach for the purpose of
enlarging the hole for us, and lost some of their number,
killed and wounded, before they reached it. None of us saw
*Sir Colin’s despatches for months afterwards, and when we
did, those of us who, like myself, knew that the paragraph,
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given below, was misleading, would hardly have ventured to
argue that question with His Excellency the Commander-in-
Chief ; thus it has remained uncontradicted and unexplained
to this day.
The misleading paragraph of the Commander-in-Chief’s
despatch runs thus :
¢ The attack on the Secunderbagh had now been proceeding
for about an hour and a half, when it was determined to take
the place by storm through a smal}. opening which had been
made. This was done in the most brilliant manner by the
remainder of the IMighlanders, and the 53rd, and the 4th
Panjab Infantry, supported by a batialion of detachments
under Mujor Barnston. There never was a bolder feat of
arms, and the loss inflicted on the enemy after the entrance
of the Sccunderbagh was effected was immense—more than
2,000 of the enemy were afterwards carried out.’
Now, although the place was unquestionably taken Dby
storm, and the credit of the capture was equally due to
all the troops above mentioned, it is quite wrong to infer,
as the wording of the paragraph above quoted from Sir
Colin’s despatch would lead one to do, that any of the 53rd
Foot, or of the 4th Panjabis, or of Major Barnston’s battalion
. of detachments, entered by the ¢ small opening which had been
" made’; and to this day 1 never heard of a survivor of the
53rd Foot or any of the corps composing the battalion of
detachments, commanded by Major Darnston, 90th Foot, who
has ever made any claim to having done so.
To the 4th Panjabis, however, among whom were many
Sikhs,* was due the sole credit of an equally glorious,

* The term ‘Sikh’ docs not denote any particular race, but is the
name given to a 1ilitary sect of Hindu dissenters. All Sikhs are
inhabitants of the P’anjab, but a1l Panjabis arc not Sikhs. Under Ranjit
Singh the Sikhs became the absolute rulers of the Panjab, and a military
nation of great importance, being banded together in a military brother-
hood known as the ‘Khalsa.’ In the Panjab about two-thirds of thé
populution are Sikhs, the other third Mussalinans and Hindus, and in



STORY OF THE STORMING OF THE SIKANDARBAGH 8g

although hitherto unrecorded, achievement, initiated and
carried out entirely by themselves, under the guidance of
the brave men who led them. Of these, Lieutenant Paul,
the Commandant, was killed, and Lieutenant Oldfield morially
wounded. Lieutenant Willoughby, who brought the regiment
out of action, in conscquenee of his senior, Lieutenant
MeQueen,* being wounded, was afterwards killed at Ruiya
in QOudh, when, owing to execrably bad generalship, we “erof[-
repulsed there with great logg in the month of April following. |
We can now only surmise that Licutenant Paul had considered
it useless to lead his 300 men up to the small hole, admitting
only one at a time, to which also scores of the 93rd were
rushing ; perhaps, also, he had some idea of cutting off the
retreat of the rebel garrison, which he wmost effeetually
accomplished ; for, with the instinct of a true soldier, he
led his men past the north-east hastion opposite his position
round to the north-west bastion, at the opposite corner of the
enclosure to that in which the breach had been made, and
succeeded in scaling the wall there. Thal is to say, the
4th Panjabis, or the bulk of them, effected by thewselves,
withont the aid of artillery, or, I beliove, of scaling ladders,
a lodginent on the roof of the bastion at the opposite point of
the compass to that from which we entered (sec plan, letter IB).
I think that lodgment was effected just about the time the
entrance gate was forced open by the main body of the 93rd,
the 53rd, Major Barnston’s detachments, and some stray
native officers and men of the 4th Panjabis. This onslaught of
the 4th Panjabis must have been of enormous use to those of

our I’nn]a.bl regnuents, hoth (u.\n.hy n.nd mfzmu\ we now (*nll-;t., not oul)
men of these classes, but ulso Afridis, Afghuns, and men from all the
mountain tribes with whom we are constantly at warfare, but whose
fidelity to their eolours has been proved over and over again under the
most trying circumstances. The Afridis, Aghans, cte., are without cxeep-
tion Muhanimadans.

* Now Lieutenant-General Sir John Withers MeQueen, K.C.1., Indian
Staff Corps,

Rt



90  RECOLLECTIONS OF A HIGHLAND SUBALTERN

us who had entered through the breach, and were then engaged
in the gateway in an endeavour to get at the gate and open
it, and to those others also of the 93rd who were slowly
scrambling one by one through the breach to our assistance,
by creating a most important diversion in our favour amongst
the rebel garrison. But whilst the Sepoys had declined all
personal encounters with us of the 93rd, when they could
avoid us in the garden, and only turned on us when we
brought them to bay in courts, staircases, rooms and door-
ways, they fiercely contested man to man every inch of their
foothold on the top of that north-west bastion with the
Panjabis. who, as I have before stated, there lost their two
senior European officers mortally wounded. Lieutenant Paul
was, I believe, blown up with the gunpowder he was himself
using against the enemy, which exploded prematurely.

All these episodes in connection with the Ath Panjabis
were the talk of the army for days afterwards, and I am at a
loss to understand how Colonel Malleson failed to hecome
acquainted with them when searching for the materials for
his History. Perhaps two out of the four European actors
having died at the time, and a third having been killed the
following April at Ruiya, the survivor of the four, Sir John
McQueen, may either not have heen invited to give an account
of the movements of his battalion on that eventful morning,
or may himself have hecome detached from the main body
and entered the Sikandarbagh by the gateway.

I must now return to Durroughs and myself, after we
entered the breach. On heing assisted into that hole in the
wall, as 1 have described at p. 83, I found myself in a very
small room with a low ceiling, and with a floor about two
feet above the level of the ground outside, and one foot above
that of the enclosure. The door of this room leading into the
enclosure being in the direct line of fire of Travers’ guns, had
been knocked into splinters. On entering the room through
the breach we looked along the broad walk (which ran round
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the whole interior of the enclosure, sce plan), in the direction
of the main and only gate, the connecting curtain’ wall
which joined the bastion through which we had entered with
the gateway being on our left, and, as I have before mentioned,
loopholed at about 43} feet to 5 feet from the ground inside.
Colonel Ewart and Lientenant Cooper, with two or three
men at most, and no other officer, had, immediately on
emerging from the room, turned to their right northwards;
but Burroughs and I, after céllecting perhaps six or eight
men of No. 6 o follow us, Made straight up the path directly
in front of us, leading close along the south wall of the
enclogure to the gateway, Burroughs’ idea being to get at the
gate and try to open it for our friends (see plan). As our
small party was running up this walk, Lance -Corporul
Danlay of No. 6 (who afterwards received, by the votes of the
whole of the privates of the regiment, one of the Victoria
Crosses awarded by Sir Colin to the rank and file, for being
the first man in the ranks of the 98rd who entered at the
breach) was shot, and rolled over and over like a rabhit.
Some man behind me called ont, ¢ The Captain’s shot !’ and
when I turned to shout out ¢ Nonsense !” T had then to shout
to Burroughs, who was running ahead, that we were alone,
all the men following us having returned to the little room
from whence we had started. I believe when this happened
we were only under the fire of the Sepoys on the top of the
bastion through which we had entered, though it was
decidedly a warm corver, for the walk was being ripped up
by bullets all round us. The Pandies however who were
peppering us must have been shocking bad shots. When we
returned to the room, it was getting crowded, and men were
still coming slowly in, one by onc, of whom almost all were
men of our own company, and not a man of any other regi-
ment but the 98rd. I think Burroughs proceeded, and I know
I~did, to help the men in who were outside a little quicker.
The native sappers had all this time been working away
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with picks to enlarge the hole, but, owing to the toughness of
the wall, had not made much progress, beyond lowering the
entrance almost to the floor of the room inside; this enabled
the crowd outside to get in a little faster. Suddenly a
musket was discharged through the low ceiling of the room
in which we were standing, thrust through an aperture
which the Sepoys on the roof had succeeded in piercing with-
out attracting our attention; the bullet, of course, killed the
man under it on the spot, when Burroughs, taking advantage
of this fresh development of the situation, and ecalling upon
all in the now crowded little room to follow, made for the
gateway again. I should think that in this second rush of
ours up the path there must have been at least five-and-
twenty men with us, and, remembering Sir Colin’s admonition
about using the bayonet, I shouted to all the men to fix
bayonets as we ran.

Perhaps Sir Colin’s orders were recalled to my memory at
that moment by my observing, to my horror, the muzzle of a
rifle thrust through one of the loopholes from the outside of
the wall on our left, and discharged, evidently, by some of the
main body of our own people who were making for the gate-
way. I clutched the discharged rifle, and, with the assistance
of a man of No. 6 Compuny, held on to it whilst I called
through the loophole that we were inside, and as I did so,
seeing that the owner wore a feather bonnet, shouted my
name to him before we let his rifle go, and ran on.

Burroughs must have reached the gateway, owing to this
delay, with perhaps eight or ten men, a minute before I did
with the rest, for there was no musketry smoke to speak of
when I turned in, and I had time to notice the crowded upper
galleries, the crowded lower platforms, and apparently a
erowd between us and the gate itself, before the smoke from a
blinding and deafening discharge of musketry over and all
round us rendered it impossible to see anything a yard off. *

1 found myself immediately behind Burroughs in the road-
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way on the proper left; of the gateway, and that the Sepoys on
the platforms both to tl;e right and left of the entrance were
so tightly packed, to get eut of our way, I suppose, that they
did not seem to be able o use their muskets, but slashed at
us with their swords from their points of vantage, two feet
above the roadway. My theory about the fire of the men in
the galleries is, that after the first discharge the smoke was
so thick (for, of course,: our men, began to blaze away in reply
to the flashes from the gal@nes) that the fire of the Sepoys
in these galleries crossed over our heads and hit their own
people on the platforms on each side, else none of us in that
gateway could have lived to tell the tale. Through the smoke
I saw the flash of a talwar down upon Burroughs’ feather
bonnet, which was knocked off, and, losing sight of him,
thought he had been cut down, so lunged with my claymore
at the Sepoy who seemed to me to have done it, at the same
time firing at him point-blank with my revolver. At that
moment the gate gave way, and we of the 93rd who had
entered by the breach—and there were no Panjabis or any
but 98rd men there even then—were borne off our feet into
the broad path leading to the centre pavilion described by me
at p. 79. For the gate had been battered in from the out-
side, and through the gateway now poured the main body of
the 98rd, consisting of nearly all the Light Company under
Captain Dalzell, the Grenadiers and Nos. 1, 4, 7, and 8 Com-
Danies, with some stray men of both Nos. 5 and 6 Companies
who had got tired of waiting their turn to enter by the
breach. With this body, the regimental headquarters, con-
sisting of Lleutenant Colonel Leith Hay, commanding the
regiment, the’ Adjutant, the Interpreter, Captain Lumsden,
and the colours in their cases, accompanied by the regimental
sergeant-ma]or, Donald Murray, also entered. The sergeant-
major, who was killed just inside the gate, was reported at tho
tithe to have had his head cut off; but as the opening of the
great gate cleared the smoke away, he was no doubt shot by
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some rebels in the galleries on either side of the gateway,
who must have done considerable execution on our people below
before they were finally disposed of. With regard to Captain
Lumsden, who, according to Malleson, entered by the breach,
it was circumstantially reported at the time that he rode in
at the gate on his pony, as recorded in my diary.. As
Interpreter, his place was at the elbow of the officer com-
manding the regiment, and .there is no doubt that he was
there. With the 93rd Highlangars, four companies of the
53rd Foot and Major Barnston’s battalion of detachments
also entered Uy the gateway.

At pp. 120-30, vol. iv., of his History, Colonel Malleson
writes: ‘ Another ofticer, Captain Burroughs of the 93rd, also
penetrated within the enclosure, but was almost immediately
attacked and sceerely wounded.  Altogether, besides the three
officers, about a dozen men, Sikhs and Highlanders, had jumped
within the enclosure, when, jor some reason yet undiscovered,
the supply rrom outside suddenly stopped.” My narrative has
already shown how incorrect the statements are which I have
given above in italics ; und, seeing that Colonel Malleson has
recorded them as ‘history,” 1 feel bound to deny them from
the evidence of my own very alert senses, 48 RECORDED BY ME
ON THE $POT AT TIE TIME;, nol my ‘reminiscences’ of what
occurred put on paper iwenty years, ten years, ten months,
or even ten weeks aficrwards, which are apt to be unmistak-
ably unreliable. I have heard a story only recently, from
a gentleman who had just returned from an Indian tour with
i hig wife, that there is now a retired non-commissioned officer,

e i

proprietor of a holel in the North-West Provinces, who gives -

to-day (1897) a circumstantial account of how he himself|
relieved Lucknow!

Burroughs was not wounded for at least twenty minutes—
very likely a longer timme—after he and I entered the breagh,
and he was wounded as I have described, but not ¢ geverely,’
in the gateway. Lieutenant-General Burroughs, C.B., is alive
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now; he corroborates my account; and Lieutenant-General
Burroughs, it must be admitted, ought to know! When he
was wounded as I have described, I thought he was knocked
down—indeed, at the moment, I thought he was killed—and
that the whole force which poured in at the gate had passed
over him as he lay on the ground, for I did not see him again
until after all opposition had been overcome, and we were
mustering, by Sir Colin’s grders, by companies outside.

Burroughs was not ‘sewgrely’ wounded,* because the
talwar cut, coming down on the top of his feather bonnet,
the wires of which it bent inwards, glanced off and merely
glit his ear and cut his cheek, instead of splitting his skull in
two, as it would most certainly have done had we then been
wearing any of the hideous and inefficient substitutes for the
feather bonnet in Indin and other hot countries, which
Highland regiments have, since 1858, been condemned to
wear on active service. Burroughs’ feather bonnet saved his
‘life from this sword-cut, as many of our lives were saved by it,
in the succeeding hot-weather campaign, fromn the sun.t

¥ See official list of killed and wounded, dated * Head Quarters,
Secunderbagh, November 18, 1857,” signed * H. W. Norman, Captuin,
Assistant Adjutant-General of the Army’ (now General Sir Henry Wylie
Norman, G.C.B., G.C.M.G., C.T.E , Indian Stafl Corps.

1 Here T would refer the reader to a prmphlet published by Messrs.
Maclure and Maedonald, in February, 1884, * addressed to Members of
both Houses of Parliument and others interested,” being a plea for the
retention of the feather, the abolition of which was then threatened by
the War Office. A reform in the manner of the supply of all articles
of a Highlander’s clothing was at the same time pressed for, and if
it has not since been carried out in all particulars, the fault lics with
officers connnanding kilted regiments since that date. I still hope to
see the feather bonnet restored to Highland regiments on active service in
all climes, as being, not only tho most serviceable hend-dress in the British
Army as 8 protection against sword-cuts, but as also being, when properly
made up, the most perfectly ventilated and coolest one for hot climates
hitherto invented. As an additional and most important recommendation
to the War Department, the feather bonnet is also the eheapest of head-
dresses, owing to the extraordinary length of time the feathers will last.
and the equally extraordinary ill-usage they will pass through uuscathed.
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My narrative has already demonstrated that not a Sikh or
any other native soldier had entered the breach up to the
moment when the gate was burst open by the main body of
the attacking force, although I believe that the 4th Panjabis,
under Lieutenant Paul, had effected a lodgment on the roof
of the north-west bastion a little before that.

I have now to deal with Colonel Malleson’s assertion that,
¢ for some reason undiscorered, the slg)ply JSrom outside suddenly
stopped,’ after some dozen men had entered the breach. I
have already testified from personal observation that from
the moment that Burroughs jumped into ‘that ugly black
hole,” the supply of men entering one by one, at the rate of
perhaps not two a minute at first, never stopped till after the
gate was opened. There was, however, » complete stoppage
of the supply to Lieutenant-Colonel Ewart and Lieutenant
Cooper’s party, consisting of themselves and three men at the
most, until the gate was forced open, for all the men coming
in at the breach naturally came running down the straight
path to our assistance where they saw a fight was going on,
instead of turning to their right in search of unknown
adventures. Colonel Ewart’s small party had completely
disappeared from the view of all entering the breach imme-
diately after they turned to their right on entering, and they
received no assistance whatever until after the gate was burst
open and the main body of the attacking force of all regiments
streamed all over the enclosure, and began to ferret out the
rebel garrison from every corner ; for, as I have already stated,
they nowhere faced 'us till brought to bay.

For the purpose of refuting Colonel Malleson’s state-
ments, I must again quote his History, vol. iv., p. 181.
After describing Ewart and Cooper’s fight, but incorrectly
assigning a number of Sikhs to that party, he says: ¢ Still, in
the end, numbers might have prevailed, when at the critical
moment the bulk of the brignde—Highlanders, the Sikhs, #nd
the 58rd—poured in to the rescue. How these had forced
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their way remains now to be told. Impatient of the delay
which would be caused by jumping singly through a narrow
hole, the bulk of the storming-party had turned to the left to
force a way by the gate of the enclosure. This gate was
locked and barred; and although the men used all their
efforts, firing their picces at the lock, some time elapsed bLefore
it gave way. But at last it yielded, and the 93rd and Sikhs
dashed through it. Ahg:ost simultaneously the‘ 58rd forced a
barred window to the righg of it, and joined in the rush to the
rescue of Ewart, of Cooper, still fighting in spite of his wound,
and their comrades.’

At p. 182 of the same volume Colonel Malleson goes
on to say: ‘. . . A considerable body of the 98rd and the
4th Panjab Rifles, outside the enclosure, had, by strenuous
exertions, succeeded in forcing the main doorway, whilst the
58rd had driven in the windwe on its right. Through these,
and through Cooper's Iole, which the sappers had succeeded
in enlarging, the stormers poured as fast as they could make
their way. As they entered, the rcbels fell back into the towers
at the angles of the enclosure. . . Again 1 must traverse all
the statements here made by Colonel Malleson which I have
put in italice. Very few men of the 4ih Pn.nja.bis entered by
the gateway, and they were only stragglers from the main
body of their regiment, which followed their senior European
officers, as I have already explained, to the north-west bastion.
¢ The bulk of the storming-party,” consisting of the bulk of the
93rd and 53rd and all of the battalion of detachments under
Major Barnston, had no occasion to ‘turn to the left,” or to
become ‘impatient of the delay’ in entering the breach, for
the simple reason that they could not see the breach, never
went near it, but were in sight of, and rushed for, the gateway
when the signal was given for the assault. They were
certainly joined by some 98rd men and some Panjabis who,
having been amongst those who made direct for the breach at
the first onset, and finding it hopeless to expect to get in

7
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there, bore round the bastion to their left and joined the main
body of the brigade.

The gate could not have been ‘locked and barred,” for
Lord Roberts, in vol. i., p. 826 of his work, states that a
Panjab Muhammadan behaved with the most conspicuous
bravery, which he witnessed himself, in preventing the gate
being barred: ‘The enemy, having been driven out of the
earthwork,* made for the gateway, the heavy doors of which
were in the act of being closed,, when the Muhammadan
(Mukarrab Khan by name) pushed his left arm, on which
he carried a shield, between them, thus preventing their
being shut. . . .’

As the engraving of the gateway of the Sikanderhagh given
at p. 77 shows — an engraving from a photograph by
Messrs. Bourne and Shepherd, of Calcutta, taken in 1863—
there were two doors, but no windows, barred or otherwise,
on each side of the gateway, through one of which a small
party of the 58rd managed to break their way in a short time
after the gate had been foreed open, but, as can be understood
from that engraving, the opening thus made only led to the
foot of one of the staircases leading up to one of the galleries
within the gateway, and not into the interior of the enclosure
of the Sikandarbagh itself.

When Colonel Ewart saw Captain Lumsden, the interpreter,
coming to his assistance, as he describes in hie ¢ Story of a
Soldier’s Life,” Lumsden had no doubt been amongst the
first who entered by the gale, and had rushed across the
garden and round the centre pavilion with the main body,
which was then spreading itself all over the place, and joined
Colonel Ewart at the narrow eastern entrance into the large
court at the back, at the point marked 1 on my plan, into
which a great crowd of rebels had retreated, to be caught, as

* That is to say, from the miniature redan thrown up by thewm in frpnt
of the gateway. (Sce my plan.)
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elsewhere throughout the enclosure and its buildings, like rats
in a trap.

The breach can no more be called ¢ Cooper’s Hole, as
described more than once by Colonel Malleson, than mine
or Colonel Ewart’s, in the sense of any one of us tihree
having entered first; but if in future editions of Colonel
Malleson’s History he desires to give that hole the name
of the first man into it, then he must eall it ¢ Burroughs’
Breach.’ A \

Finally, with reference to the latter part of my last quota-
tion from Colornel Malleson, the rebels could not ©fall back
into the towers at the angle of the enclosure,” for the good
and sufficient reason that there were no towers to fall back
into. The engraving I give at p. 77 reproduces, in the
right-hand corner, the bastion through which the breach
was driven on the other side, and shows its roof, with two
dummy minarets and several domes, in the same condition
us they were on November 16, 1857, the other t